# The lipid composition of the marine dinoflagellate Zooxanthella nutricula, a polycystine

radiolarian symbiont

by Jori Graeff

A thesis presented to the Honors College of Middle Tennessee State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for graduation from the University Honors College.

Fall 2020

# The lipid composition of the marine dinoflagellate Zooxanthella nutricula, a polycystine

radiolarian symbiont

by Jori Graeff

APPROVED:

Dr. Jeffrey Leblond, Thesis Director Professor, Biology Department

Dr. Dennis Mullen, Second Reader Interim Department Chair, Biology Department

Dr. Stephen Howard, Thesis Committee Chair Professor, Biology Department

### Acknowledgements

Throughout the writing of this thesis, I received invaluable guidance and encouragement from many people. I would first like to thank my research advisor, Dr. Jeffrey Leblond, who opened my eyes to the world of dinoflagellate research, guided me through the research process, and spent time and effort ensuring that this project was the best it could be. I would also like to thank my family for providing encouragement through the entire process, lifting my morale in overwhelming times, and having unrelenting faith that I would succeed.

#### Abstract

Dinoflagellates are important primary producers in their marine and freshwater environments, and they form symbiotic relationships with larger marine organisms. Previous research has explored symbiotic relationships such as enidarian symbioses with *Symbiodinium* dinoflagellates. However, little research addresses the symbiotic relationship between radiolarians and their symbionts, such as the marine dinoflagellate *Zooxanthella nutricula*. An important aspect of dinoflagellate symbiosis involves the exchange of metabolites such as the transfer of lipids from the symbiont to the host. This research aimed to identify the lipid content, particularly that of sterols and fatty acidcontaining galactolipids, of *Z. nutricula*. The major sterol identified was 22dehydrocholesterol, which does not tend to be a dominant sterol among dinoflagellates. The major galactolipid was 18:5/18:5 MGDG, and all galactolipids identified were C<sub>18</sub>/C<sub>18</sub> forms of MGDG and DGDG. These results along with future research about radiolarian lipids should elucidate the role of sterols and fatty acids in dinoflagellateradiolarian symbiosis.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Tablesvi
List of Figures vii
Introduction
Dinoflagellate Symbioses with Larger Organisms1
Dinoflagellate Lipids
Methods
Zooxanthella Culture and Growth Conditions13
Cell Harvesting and Lipid Extraction13
Lipid Fractionating13
Sterol Processing and Analysis14
Galactolipid Processing and Analysis15
Results
Sterols17
Galactolipids19
Discussion
Phylogenetic Placement of Z. nutricula Within the Dinophyceae
Sterols of Z. nutricula in Relation to Other Dinoflagellates
Galactolipids of Z. nutricula in Relation to Other Peridinin-Containing Dinoflagellates
Conclusions
References
Appendix

# List of Tables

Table	1	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	 •	21
Table	2									 	23

# List of Figures

Figure 1	
Figure 2	
Figure 3	
Figure 4	

#### Introduction

#### Dinoflagellate Symbioses with Larger Organisms

Marine and freshwater dinoflagellates are phytoplankton that play an important role in aqueous environments due to their ability to fix carbon and to provide chemical energy that continues up the food chain (Hackett et al., 2004; Spector, 1984). About half of all documented dinoflagellates are capable of photosynthesis and have photosynthetic pigments, such as the carotenoid peridinin, that are responsible for the cell's overall pigmentation (Dodge, 1984; Gaines & Elbrächter, 1987). In contrast, the other half of dinoflagellates are heterotrophic and are not capable of photosynthesis due to a lack of the necessary photosynthetic pigments and chloroplasts (Hackett et al., 2004). As a result, these heterotrophic cells require food and energy from other organisms or acquire nutrients from the environment (Sleigh, 2000).

Some dinoflagellates are zooxanthellae and engage in symbiotic relationships with many different marine organisms such as protozoan radiolarians and foraminifera, and cnidarian animals such as anemones, jellyfish, and corals (Gast & Caron, 2001; Gordon & Leggat, 2010). This interaction between dinoflagellates and host organisms is significant for the environment because dinoflagellates, as important primary producers, fix carbon dioxide produced by the host (Yellowlees et al., 2008). Symbiosis is also beneficial for the host because as dinoflagellates recycle carbon, they provide photosynthetic products such as glucose, lipids, proteins and amino acids, and other metabolites for the host to be used for different biological processes (Hackett et al., 2004; Trench, 1971; Yellowlees et al., 2008). In return, the host provides inorganic nutrients such as nitrogen as ammonium and phosphorus as phosphate for the symbiont so that the cyclical transfer of metabolites continues (Muscatine & Porter, 1977; Yellowlees et al., 2008). However, under conditions of extreme heat and light, this symbiotic relationship can be impaired and result in the expulsion of symbiont dinoflagellates from the host, which can harm both organisms (Villar et al., 2018). The termination of symbiont-coral interactions can result in coral bleaching, which causes concern about rising water temperatures because bleaching can cause the coral to be more susceptible to diseases, inhibit reproduction, and cause coral death (Baird & Marshall, 2002; Miller et al., 2009).

Different classes of lipids are important for processes within dinoflagellates and hosts (Gordon & Leggat, 2010). Triglycerides provide energy storage for cells, glycolipids in the photosynthetic symbiont constitute chloroplast membranes and help regulate photosystems, phospholipids and betaine lipids form cell membranes, and sterols provide structural support for cell membranes (Kumari et al., 2013). Symbiotic relationships are important because symbiotic dinoflagellates, particularly the genus Symbiodinium, can synthesize and transfer sterols, such as cholesterol (cholest-5-en-3βol) and gorgosterol (22,23-methylene-23,24-dimethyl-cholest-5-en-3β-ol), that their host is unable to produce (Goad, 1981; Hambleton et al., 2019; Withers et al., 1982). Cholesterol is an important component of cell membranes, and while gorgosterol is mainly produced and transferred by dinoflagellates in symbiosis, its function in the host is unknown (de Oliveira Andrade, 2016; Rampen et al., 2009). The host benefits from these sterols because they can provide stability for cell membranes, and because cnidarian hosts are unable to synthesize their own sterols, they must rely on those that are produced by symbionts or acquired by consuming prey (Baumgarten et al., 2015; Hambleton et al., 2019).

Radiolarians, which are marine protists known to host dinoflagellates, typically live in nutrient-lacking, open ocean environments and can live as a single organism or as a cluster of cells (Anderson, 2001). Dinoflagellates and radiolarians form an important symbiotic relationship in oligotrophic environments since the symbiotic dinoflagellates presumably provide nutrients for the host (Anderson, 2001; Liu et al., 2019; Trench, 1987). In return, the host provides ammonium to the symbiont which is significant because oligotrophic waters tend to be nitrogen-deficient (Liu et al., 2019). Radiolarians are also able to consume symbiotic dinoflagellates as food, as evidenced by the radiolarian *Collozoum inerme*, found to have ingested dinoflagellates that resembled those of the genus *Aureodinium* which presently includes only the species *A. pigmentosum* Dodge (Anderson, 1976; Dodge, 1967; Guiry & Guiry, 2020). Whether by transferring metabolites or being digested, dinoflagellates play a crucial role in radiolarian nutrition. (Suzuki & Not, 2015).

In addition to hosting dinoflagellates, radiolarians are also important in the field of paleoclimatology (Haq & Boersma, 1998). Different characteristics and patterns of preserved radiolarians in ocean sediments and living radiolarians within the water column reflect changes in climate conditions such as water temperature (Haq & Boersma, 1998). For example, there is a possible association between sea surface temperature and the frequency that polycystine radiolarians assemble in which multiple species congregate together (Suzuki & Not, 2015). Polycystine radiolarians are radiolarians that produce a silica (silicon dioxide) skeleton and include only the orders Spumellaria, Nassellaria, and Collodaria while the two remaining orders of Acantharia and Taxopodia are not considered polycystine (De Wever et al., 2001; Suzuki & Not, 2015). Since different

species of radiolarians prefer different environments, the species present in the assemblages can provide insight about climatic and environmental conditions (Lampitt et al., 2009). While radiolarians strongly impact organic carbon cycles with photosynthetic symbionts, they also impact inorganic cycles in the ocean (Suzuki & Not, 2015). Radiolarians in the order Acantharia use strontium and barium to build strontium sulfate skeletons, and those in the orders Spumellaria, Nassellaria, and Collodaria use dissolved silica to build opaline silica skeletons (Canfield et al., 2005; Suzuki & Not, 2015). Radiolarian remains are thus important contributors to silica found in ocean sediments (Canfield et al., 2005; Suzuki & Not, 2015). Radiolarians contribute to inorganic cycles by building skeletons, and together, dinoflagellates and radiolarians contribute to organic cycles (e.g. carbon) through dinoflagellate photosynthesis and to inorganic cycles (e.g. nitrogen and phosphorus) through the transfer of nutrients.

Radiolarians within the orders Collodaria, Spumellaria, and Nassellaria can live symbiotically with the dinoflagellate *Zooxanthella nutricula* K.Brandt (Brandt, 1881/2016; Probert et al., 2014; Yuasa et al., 2016). *Z. nutricula* was first identified in the late 1800s by Karl Brandt; however, he provided vague descriptions of the dinoflagellate which caused confusion about different species and their relation to the genus *Zooxanthella* (Yuasa et al., 2016). As a result of the confusion, *Z. nutricula* was also given the name of *Brandtodinium nutricula* (K.Brandt) Probert & Siano, but *Z. nutricula* has since been regarded as the valid name of this particular species of dinoflagellates (Krueger, 2016; Yuasa et al., 2016). However, it is important to note that while the term zooxanthellae describes dinoflagellates that are capable of symbiosis with other marine organisms, the genus *Zooxanthella* does not encompass all zooxanthellae dinoflagellates (Krueger, 2016).

In addition to *Z. nutricula* (peridinioid), radiolarians can engage in symbiosis with the dinoflagellates *Amphidinium* sp. (amphidinioid) and the recently discovered *Gymnoxanthella radiolariae* T.Yuasa & T.Horiguchi (gymnodinioid; Taylor, 1974; Yuasa et al., 2016). The terms peridinioid, amphidinioid, and gymnodinioid describe dinoflagellates within phylogenetic groups as based on cell morphologies and gene sequences (Medlin & Cembella, 2013). Therefore, radiolarians are capable of forming symbiotic relationships with phylogenetically different dinoflagellates (Yuasa et al., 2016). Further discussion of the phylogeny of dinoflagellates symbiotic with radiolarians is covered later.

Symbiotic dinoflagellates, mostly in the genus *Symbiodinium*, are important for marine invertebrates such as corals and anemones (i.e. cnidarians) because they transfer lipids, especially sterols, in addition to nutrients to the cnidarian host (Goad, 1981; Gordon & Leggat, 2010). While both *Z. nutricula* (Peridiniales) and *Symbiodinium* (Suessiales) engage in symbiotic relationships, they are not closely related phylogenetically, and the host organisms, radiolarians and anthozoans, respectively, are different (Probert et al., 2014). *Symbiodinium* dinoflagellates within the order Suessiales comprise an important phylogenetic group because they tend to be symbionts, so they are typically classified as zooxanthellae (Medlin & Cembella, 2013). However, other dinoflagellates not within the Suessiales are capable of forming symbiotic relationships with marine organisms, as evidenced by *Z. nutricula* which is within the order Peridiniales (Decelle et al., 2012; Probert et al., 2014). Groups of closely related

dinoflagellates tend to be symbionts of the same host organism (Gast & Caron, 2001). Therefore, the different hosts of *Z. nutricula* and *Symbiodinium* could reflect phylogenetic differences between the dinoflagellates since *Z. nutricula* forms symbiotic relationships with radiolarians, and *Symbiodinium* form symbiotic relationships with anthozoans within the phylum Cnidaria and with protozoan foraminifera (Gast & Caron, 2001; Gottschling & McLean, 2013). Within foraminifera and cnidarian symbiotic relationships with *Symbiodinium* species, metabolite exchanges are similar in that lipids and glycerol are transferred to the host, and nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus are transferred to the symbiont (Hallock, 2007; Lee, 1995).

Radiolarians and foraminifera are both classified within the eukaryotic supergroup Rhizaria and are further grouped together within the Retaria clade (Burki et al., 2010; Moreira et al., 2007; Sierra et al., 2013). Phylogenetic trees support the placement of foraminifera as a sister group to either the radiolarian order Acantharia or to polycystine radiolarians (Burki et al., 2010; Sierra et al., 2013). Therefore, radiolarians and foraminifera are closely related even though they engage in symbiosis with phylogenetically different dinoflagellates. While research about radiolarian symbiosis is not as extensive as cnidarian and foraminifera symbioses in terms of metabolite exchanges and interactions between the symbiont and host, it is believed that metabolite exchanges similar to those in enidarian and foraminifera symbiosis include the transfer of ammonium to the symbiont and the possible transfer of amino acids to the host (Liu et al., 2019). In addition to forming symbiotic relationships and contributing to carbon cycles, the production of toxins is a characteristic of some dinoflagellates, recognizing that there are many different types of dinoflagellate toxins and that these differences can reflect phylogenetic differences between the dinoflagellates that produce them (Medlin & Cebella, 2013). As a result, the presence of toxins does not necessarily indicate a phylogenetic relatedness between dinoflagellates since toxic dinoflagellates can be found in different phylogenetic groups (Medlin & Cebella, 2013).

Most dinoflagellate toxins, such as the collection of brevetoxins produced by Karenia brevis (C.C.Davis) Gert Hansen & Moestrup are neurotoxins that are often associated with harmful algal blooms (HABs) caused by free-swimming planktonic and benthic dinoflagellates not in symbiosis with a larger organism (Hackett et al., 2004). These neurotoxins can negatively affect a variety of higher organisms including humans, marine mammals, and fish (Hackett et al., 2004; Medlin & Cebella, 2013). Whether or not toxin production is a general characteristic of zooxanthellae, and if so, the effect on the host organism, is an open question. The predominant dinoflagellates responsible for HABs are not of the genus Symbiodinium (Hackett et al., 2004). However, Symbiodinium dinoflagellates have been found to produce zooxanthellatoxins (ZTs) such as ZT-A and ZT-B as well as the chemically related symbiodiniolide and zooxanthellamides (Gordon & Leggat, 2010; Kita et al., 2007; Nakamura et at., 1993; Onodera et al., 2003). These toxins functionally resemble other vasoconstrictive toxins such as maitotoxin and palytoxin, but they are structurally different (Nakamura et al., 1993). ZTs are harmful because they open calcium ion channels, and increased calcium ion concentrations induce their vasoconstrictive properties which can harm tissues (Nakamura et al., 1995; Moriya

et al., 1998). The reason why *Symbiodinium* produces toxins is not well understood, but they are believed to be part of the complex symbiosis between zooxanthellae and the host organism since ZTs function by opening calcium ion channels in the host

(McConnaughey, 2012). Toxins could be a way for zooxanthellae to regulate the delicate balance of biological pathways such as calcification and nutrient acquisition in a way that benefits both the host and symbiont (McConnaughey, 2012). Typical Symbiodinium hosts such as coral, foraminifera, and sponges are calcareous, so they undergo calcification to build their skeleton (McConnaughey, 2012). Products of calcification include the calcium carbonate skeleton as well as carbon dioxide, produced when bicarbonate ( $HCO_3^{-}$ ) reacts with protons released during calcification, which zooxanthellae use for photosynthesis (McConnaughey, 2012; Toyofuku et al., 2017). Calcification is also thought to improve nutrient uptake in zooxanthellae (McConnaughey, 2012; McConnaughey & Whelan, 1997). The host organism has sole control over the release of nutrients to the symbiont, so when nutrient levels are low, zooxanthellae toxins could stimulate calcification as a way to acquire nutrients (McConnaughey, 2012; Rands et al., 1993). However, the release of excessive toxins and enhanced nutrient uptake by zooxanthellae could cause an increased abundance of symbionts which could ultimately harm the host through the loss of nutrients (McConnaughey, 2012; Tanaka et al., 2007). Zooxanthellae can leave the host due to lack of nutrients or be expelled by the host due to the production of too many toxins, but the host could be harmed when too many symbionts leave at once (McConnaughey, 2012). Zooxanthellae toxins and the ability of only the host to release nutrients to the symbiont regulate an equilibrium in which enough nutrients need to be released to the symbiont to prevent the release of toxins but not enough to cause

overgrowth of zooxanthellae which can harm the host through nutrient depletion (McConnaughey, 2012; Rands et al., 1993).

The presence of toxins in *Z. nutricula* is unknown, and although it is considered a type of zooxanthellae, it most likely does not produce ZTs due to its distant phylogenetic relatedness to *Symbiodinium* and because its radiolarian host does not have a calcium skeleton (Suzuki & Not, 2015). The genus *Heterocapsa* which is related to *Z. nutricula* (see below) contains dinoflagellates symbiotic with Acantharia which also lack a calcium skeleton (Suzuki & Not, 2015). However, the genus *Heterocapsa* includes, for example, *H. circularisquama* Horiguchi which produces harmful photosensitizing hemolytic toxins, H2-a and H3-b, which are structurally different than ZTs (Miyazaki et al., 2005; Nakamura et al., 1995; Onodera et al., 2003; Sato et al., 2002). The recently discovered species *H. bohaiensis* J.Xiao & Y.Li also produces hemolytic toxins, and further research will clarify the role and mechanism of these toxins (Zhang et al., 2019). Apart from *H. circularisquama* and *H. bohaiensis*, no published research indicates that other *Heterocapsa* species produce toxins.

# Dinoflagellate Lipids

When *Z. nutricula* cultures living symbiotically with *Collozoum pelagicum* of the order Collodaria were placed under thermally stressful conditions, dinoflagellate density decreased, and dinoflagellate organelles were damaged (Villar et al., 2018). However, even while under thermal stress, the dinoflagellates in symbiosis with this polycystine radiolarian were still capable of photosynthetic functions (Villar et al., 2018). Although researchers have determined how *Z. nutricula* responds to thermal stress while in

symbiosis with Collodaria in terms of chloroplast functionality, little is known about the actual lipid content of *Z. nutricula* under normal conditions. Since chloroplasts within symbiotic cells of *Z. nutricula* remained intact and functionally efficient during thermal stress while other cellular components experienced degradation, the dinoflagellate lipid composition could provide insight about the types of chloroplast lipids structurally supporting photosynthetic membranes and photosystems in *Z. nutricula*.

Marine and freshwater dinoflagellates are composed of a variety of lipids that aid in proper functioning of the cell. Dinoflagellate cellular membrane lipids include glycolipids, betaine lipids, and phospholipids (Leblond et al., 2015; Leblond & Dahmen, 2016). Glycolipids such as monogalactosyldiacylglycerol (MGDG) and digalactosyldiacylglycerol (DGDG) function by providing structure for the thylakoid membrane in photosynthetic chloroplasts, which in turn provides structure for chloroplast photosystems (Kobayashi, 2016). Reductions in the integrity of the photosystems caused by factors such as light stress can result in photoinhibition, reduced photosynthetic activity due to light (Downs et al., 2013; Hölzl et al., 2009). Phospholipids are cellular lipids that provide structural support for the cell (Kumari et al., 2013). Betaine lipids are non-phosphorous-containing analogs of phospholipids that serve as cellular lipids, and they are important in phosphorus-deficient cells because betaine lipids increase in quantity to compensate for a decrease in phospholipid quantities which can occur during phosphate starvation (Murakami et al., 2018). It is theorized that phytoplankton in phosphorous-lacking oligotrophic environments contain more betaine lipids than phytoplankton in eutrophic environments (Van Mooy et al., 2009). This could be true for Z. nutricula since it is symbiotic with radiolarians in oligotrophic environments.

Sterols, which play an important role in cell membrane fluidity and permeability, are also an important cellular lipid in dinoflagellates (Dawaliby et al., 2015; Freeman et al., 1976). Some dinoflagellates have been found to contain modified sterols that are believed to protect against predators because the sterols are nutritionally poor and are insufficient to sustain the predator (Giner et al., 2003). In addition, sterols may also provide protection from toxins because specific sterols may bind to the toxin, and thus hinder toxin functionality (Deeds & Place, 2006). As a result, this defense mechanism can serve to protect the dinoflagellate cell from toxins it produces (Deeds & Place, 2006). However, the protective function of toxins has only been studied in the toxic dinoflagellate Karlodinium micrum which is synonymous with K. veneficum (D.Ballantine) J.Larsen (Deeds & Place, 2006). Many distinct sterols are produced by different species of dinoflagellates due to the varying side chains and characteristics of the sterol ring structure, and the different sterols produced can be affected by alterations in environmental conditions such as heat and light (Volkman, 2003; Withers, 1983). Z. *nutricula* is taxonomically within the class Dinophyceae, and it has been determined that dinosterol ( $4\alpha$ ,23,24-trimethyl- $5\alpha$ -cholest-22E-en- $3\beta$ -ol), a major sterol for this class because it is produced by many (but not all dinoflagellates), can be used as a dinoflagellate biomarker in marine sediments (Volkman et al., 1993; Volkman, 2003). However, the sterol composition of Z. nutricula has never been examined.

Lipids are important for dinoflagellate and dinoflagellate host survival because lipids provide necessary stability for cellular components (e.g. cell membrane) and processes (e.g. photosynthesis). The purpose of this research is to analyze the lipid content of the dinoflagellate *Z. nutricula*, with emphasis placed on those classes of lipids, sterols and chloroplast-associated glycolipids, which after decades of research are the best characterized lipids within the class Dinophyceae. Research has previously not determined the specific sterols and glycolipids produced by *Z. nutricula* as a radiolarian symbiont. Thus, this research will provide valuable baseline information regarding what lipids are produced and stored in the organism, and how such lipids could affect symbiotic relationships with radiolarians. Additionally, this research will give insight into how *Z. nutricula* is taxonomically related to other dinoflagellates as based on lipid composition.

#### Methods

### Zooxanthella Culture and Growth Conditions

*Zooxanthella nutricula* CCMP 3427 was acquired from the National Center for Marine Algae and Microbiota (East Boothbay, ME; previously known as the Center for the Culture of Marine Phytoplankton). This culture is synonymous with culture collection strain RCC 3387 originally isolated from Villefranche-sur-Mer Bay in France and originally housed at the Roscoff Culture Collection (Roscoff, France). *Z. nutricula* was autotrophically grown to exponential phase in quadruplicate in 2 L of L1 growth medium (Guillard & Hargraves, 1993) with a salinity of 35 psu. The cultures were grown at 20°C under a 14/10 h light/dark cycle at an irradiance of approximately 50 μmol photons/m<sup>2</sup>·s<sup>1</sup>.

# Cell Harvesting and Lipid Extraction

After sufficient growth of the cultures at 20°C in which cells were at a concentration of roughly 10<sup>4</sup> cells/mL, the cells were harvested using filtration onto Whatman 934-AH glass microfiber filters (GE Healthcare, Chicago, IL, USA). Lipids were extracted from the harvested cells using the techniques of Leblond and Chapman (2000).

# Lipid Fractionating

Lipid classes were separated based on polarity using column chromatography using the methods described by Leblond and Chapman (2000). To separate the lipids, the columns used activated Unisil silica (1.0 g, 100-200 mesh, activated at 120°C, Clarkson Chromatography, South Williamsport, PA, USA). The following describes the solvents used to separate the lipids into 5 fractions with increasing polarity: Fraction 1) 12 mL methylene chloride (sterol esters), Fraction 2) 15 mL 5% acetone in methylene chloride with 0.05% acetic acid (free sterols, tri- and diacylglycerols, and free fatty acids), Fraction 3) 10 mL 20% acetone in methylene chloride (monoacylglycerols), Fraction 4) 45 mL acetone (MGDG and DGDG), and Fraction 5) 15 mL methanol with 0.1% glacial (polar lipids, phospholipids, and betaine lipids).

# Sterol Processing and Analysis

Sterol esters and free sterols from Fractions 1 and 2 were saponified and derivatized to form trimethylsilyl (TMS)-ether derivatives as described by Leblond and Chapman (2002). Gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) with positive-ion electron impact (EI) was used to analyze the sterol derivatives using the GC/MS conditions described by Khadka, Salem, and Leblond (2015). The following conditions were used: 1  $\mu$ l of the sample was injected into the GC/MS in a splitless manner with the injector set at 280°C, the transfer line set at 275°C, the helium carrier at 28 cm/sec, 70eV with a scanning range of 50-600 amu and a cycle time of 1.1 sec. The temperature of the GC was held at 50°C for 1 minute, increased by 15°C per minute until reaching 170°C, and increased by 10°C per minute until reaching 300°C where it held for 11 minutes. Retention times (RT) were used to calculate relative retention times (RRT) to cholesterol based on the methods of Jones et al. (1994). The TMS-ether derivative was compared to a 22-dehydrocholesterol (cholesta-5,22Z-dien-3 $\beta$ -ol) standard that was acquired from Steraloids (Newport, Rhode Island). Comparisons for other sterols were compared to data

published by Jones et al. (1994) and sterol standards including 7-dehydrocholesterol (cholesta-5,7-dien-3 $\beta$ -ol), stigmasterol (5,22-cholestadien-24 $\beta$ -ethyl-3 $\beta$ -ol), and desmosterol (cholesta-5,24-dien-3 $\beta$ -ol) from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, Missouri), brassicasterol (24-methylcholesta-5,22E-dien-3 $\beta$ -ol), fucosterol (5-cholesten-24(28)ethylidene-3 $\beta$ -ol), and 5 $\alpha$ -cholesta-8,24-dien-3 $\beta$ -ol from Steraloids (Newport, Rhode Island),  $\beta$ -sitosterol (5-cholesten-24 $\beta$ -ethyl-3 $\beta$ -ol) with campesterol (24-methylcholesta-5-en-3 $\beta$ -ol) from TCI America (Portland, Oregon), and cholesterol from an unknown source.

### Galactolipid Processing and Analysis

Galactolipids from Fraction 4 were dissolved in a solvent mixture of methanol, chloroform, and 50 mM sodium acetate based on the methods of Welti et al. (2002) to produce positively charged sodium adducts [M+Na<sup>+</sup>]. The adducts were scanned using positive-ion electrospray/mass spectrometry (ESI/MS) from 100-2,000 amu through direct injection of a 5 µl sample into a methylene chloride carrier solvent at 0.5 ml/min into a Finnigan DecaXP ion trap mass spectrometer (Waltham, MA, USA) based on the methods of Gray et al. (2009). The ESI/MS was calibrated before runs using Pierce LTQ ESI positive ion calibration solution (catalog number 88322, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). After isotopic correction for <sup>13</sup>C forms, the relative abundance of each galactolipid was identified. Using the total intensity of all galactolipid ions, the relative percentage distributions were identified using the methods of Gray et al. (2009). Further ESI/MS/MS scans were conducted on certain galactolipids by using a collision energy between 37.5 and 48%. Differences in the mass of original ions and their fragments were used to identify the major cleaved fatty acids. The position of the acyl chain as either sn-1 or sn-2 was identified based on the relative percent compositions according to the procedure of Gray et al. (2009) as based on an earlier procedure created by Guella et al. (2003).

#### Results

#### Sterols

Fifteen sterols as TMS derivatives and one steroidal ketone were found in *Z. nutricula*, and of these sterols and steroidal ketones, eight were identifiable, as shown in Table 1. Major sterols included 22-dehydrocholesterol (cholesta-5,22E-dien-3β-ol), dinosterol, dinostanol ( $4\alpha$ ,23,24-trimethyl-5 $\alpha$ -cholestan-3 $\beta$ -ol), and dinostanone ( $4\alpha$ ,23,24-trimethyl-5a-cholestan-3-one). Sterol identification was determined by comparing the masses of major molecular ion fragments with those of previously identified TMS derivatives of sterols from Jones et al. (1994) and other works as noted, as well as authentic standards where available. Examples of mass spectral characterization of major sterols and a steroidal ketone are discussed below.

The sterols were classified as either free sterols or sterol esters, as shown in Table 1. The interfraction comparison between free and esterified sterols showed that the free sterol fraction accounted for the majority of the total sterols (76.6 ± 8.7%). The most abundant free sterol, 22-dehydrocholesterol, accounted for  $43.4 \pm 2.5\%$  of the free sterols and was a minor constituent of the sterol ester fraction with an abundance of  $3.2 \pm 2.3\%$ . Other prominent free sterols included dinosterol which accounted for  $25.5 \pm 3.3\%$  of the free sterols and dinostanol which accounted for  $10.0 \pm 0.4\%$  of the free sterols. These three free sterols accounted for 78.9% of the free sterol fraction. Cholesterol accounted for a very low overall abundance of the free sterols with an abundance of  $0.4 \pm 0.1\%$  and was not present as a sterol ester. The most abundant sterol ester accounting for  $60.0 \pm 4.1\%$  of the sterol esters was an unknown  $C_{29:1}$  sterol that was not present as a free sterol. The second most prominent sterol ester with an abundance of  $25.3 \pm 6.0\%$  was

dinostanone. The unknown  $C_{29:1}$  sterol and dinostanone accounted for 85.3% of the sterol ester fraction.

The mass spectrum of 22-dehydrocholesterol displayed major fragments at m/z441 (M<sup>+</sup>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 366 (M<sup>+</sup>-TMS-O-H), 351 (M<sup>+</sup>-TMS-O-H-CH<sub>3</sub>), 327 (M<sup>+</sup>-TMS-O-H- $C_{3}H_{4}$ ), and 255 (M<sup>+</sup>-TMS-O-H-side chain). These fragments were consistent with those of the 22-dehydrocholesterol standard's mass spectrum data shown in Figure 1. The side chain stereochemistry of 22-dehydrocholesterol was determined based on relative retention time (RRT) values since major fragments reported by Jones et al. (1994) were the same for both the *cis* (Z) and *trans* (E) stereoisomers. The RRT of the isomer isolated from Z. nutricula was 0.901, and according to Jones et al. (1994), the RRT of the cis isomer was 0.83 and the RRT of the *trans* isomer was 0.90. We aimed to compare the RRT value of the *trans* isomer standard with that of the isomer isolated in our study, but the standard was commercially unavailable. Nonetheless, RRT values for other sterols found in our study were comparable to those from Jones et al. (1994) apart from  $4\alpha$ ,24dimethyl-5 $\alpha$ -cholest-22E-en-3 $\beta$ -ol which was presented by Jones et al. (1994) with two conflicting RRT values of 1.41 and 1.47. However, Mansour et al. (1999), Leblond and Chapman (2004), and Thomson et al. (2004) presented the RRT value of  $4\alpha$ , 24-dimethyl- $5\alpha$ -cholest-22E-en-3\beta-ol as 1.47 which was consistent with our data, and they also presented RRT values for other sterols that were consistent with those from our study. Since the RRT values of sterols in our study were similar to those from Jones et al. (1994), the 22-dehydrocholesterol isomer identified in our study was determined to be the trans isomer given that its RRT value was 0.901.

The spectrum of dinosterol displayed major fragments at m/z 485 (M<sup>+</sup>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 388 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>8</sub>H<sub>6</sub>), 359 (M<sup>+</sup>-2H-side chain), and 271 (M<sup>+</sup>-TMS-O-H-side chain) which were consistent with those of the dinosterol mass spectra data provided by Atwood et al. (2014). The mass spectrum of dinostanol displayed major fragments at m/z 487 (M<sup>+</sup>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 412 (M<sup>+</sup>-TMS-O-H), 397 (M<sup>+</sup>-TMS-O-H-CH<sub>3</sub>), and 373 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>21</sub>) which were consistent with those of the dinostanol mass spectrum data provided by Piretti et al. (1997). The mass spectrum of dinostanone displayed major fragments at m/z 413 (M<sup>+</sup>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 331 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>13</sub>), and 245 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>27</sub>) which were consistent with those of the dinostanone displayed major fragments at m/z 413 (M<sup>+</sup>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 331 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>13</sub>), and 245 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>27</sub>) which were consistent with those of the dinostanone displayed major fragments at m/z 413 (M<sup>+</sup>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 331 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>13</sub>), and 245 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>27</sub>) which were consistent with those of the dinostanone displayed major fragments at m/z 413 (M<sup>+</sup>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 331 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>13</sub>), and 245 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>27</sub>) which were consistent with those of the dinostanone displayed major fragments at m/z 413 (M<sup>+</sup>-CH<sub>3</sub>), 331 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>7</sub>H<sub>13</sub>), and 245 (M<sup>+</sup>-C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>27</sub>) which were consistent with those of the dinostanone mass spectrum data provided by Mansour et al. (1999).

## *Galactolipids*

Structurally, galactolipids have two fatty acids (acyl chains) attached to a single galactose or digalactose sugar moiety (Guella et al., 2003). The acyl chains in a galactolipid molecule can be the same (e.g. 18:5/18:5) or different (e.g. 18:5/18:4). The 18:5 fatty acid is octadecapentaenoic acid which contains 18 carbons and 5 double bonds (Figure 3). The 18:4 fatty acid is octadecatetraenoic acid which contains 18 carbons and 4 double bonds (Figure 3). The first double bond from the methyl end of both 18:5 and 18:4 fatty acids are in the n-3 position. Three galactolipids were found in *Z. nutricula* and were identified as 18:5/18:5 MGDG (*sn*-1/*sn*-2), 18:5/18:4 MGDG, and 18:5/18:4 DGDG, as shown in Table 2 and Figure 3. Stereospecific numbering (*sn*) identifies the placement of the acyl chains according to which carbon of the glycerol backbone the chains attach (Guella et al., 2003). The terminal carbons of glycerol include carbons 1 and 3, and carbon 2 is positioned between them as depicted in Figure 3.

The galactolipids 18:5/18:4 MGDG (*sn*-1/*sn*-2) and 18:5/18:4 DGDG required differentiation of the attached fatty acids based on *sn* position. Positive-ion ESI/MS/MS analysis identified the acyl chains as either *sn*-1 or *sn*-2 because the strongest peak represented the acyl chain in the *sn*-2 position due to the cleavage of the *sn*-1 acyl chain (Guella et al., 2003). For both of the galactolipids, the 18:5 acyl chain attached to the *sn*-1 position, and the 18:4 acyl chain attached to the *sn*-2 position since cleavage of the 18:5 acyl chains resulted in the strongest peaks (Figure 3).

The most prominent galactolipid was 18:5/18:5 MGDG with an abundance of  $42.0 \pm 1.1\%$ . The second major galactolipid was 18:5/18:4 DGDG with an abundance of  $33.5 \pm 3.3\%$ , and the third galactolipid, 18:5/18:4 MGDG, had an abundance of  $24.4 \pm 2.5\%$ . All galactolipids in *Z. nutricula* were C<sub>18</sub>/C<sub>18</sub> forms of MGDG and DGDG.

Carbon	Suggested Structure	Molecular	Retention	RRT <sup>b</sup>	Average Relative	Average Relative
Number		Weight <sup>a</sup>	Time (min)		Abundance of Free and Esterified Sterols (%)	Abundance of Total Sterols (%)
C <sub>27</sub> Sterols	Unidentified C <sub>27:2</sub> sterol	456	36.9	0.838	$0.2 \pm 0.2$	0.2
	Cholesta-5,22E-dien-3β-ol (22-dehydrocholesterol)	456	37.15	0.901	$43.4 \pm 2.5$ $(3.2 \pm 2.3)$	33.9
	Unidentified C <sub>27:1</sub> sterol	456	37.22	0.919	$1.1 \pm 0.5$ (0.9 ± 0.5)	1.1
	Cholest-5-en-3β-ol (cholesterol)	458	37.57	1	$0.4\pm0.1$	0.3
C <sub>28</sub> Sterols	Unidentified C <sub>28:1</sub> sterol	472	37.83	1.083	$5.5 \pm 1.5$ (2.0 ± 1.4)	4.7
	Unidentified C <sub>28:1</sub> sterol	472	37.93	1.11	$0.9 \pm 0.2$ (1.0 ± 0.5)	0.9
	24-Methylcholesta-5,22E-dien-3β-ol <sup>e</sup> ( <i>R</i> -brassicasterol/ <i>S</i> -crinosterol)	470	38.07	1.148	$2.7 \pm 0.6$ (0.2)	2.1
	Unidentified C <sub>28:1</sub> sterol	472	38.33	1.218	$5.3 \pm 3.6$	4.1
C <sub>29</sub> Sterols	Unidentified C <sub>29:1</sub> sterol	486	39	1.398	$0.6 \pm 0.2$ (2.3 ± 1.0)	1.0
	4α,24-Dimethyl-5α-cholest-22E-en- 3β-ol	486	39.29	1.476	$2.3 \pm 0.3$ (1.4 ± 0.8)	2.1
	4α,24-Dimethyl-5α-cholestan-3β-ol (4,24-dimethylcholestanol)	488	40.13	1.701	$1.0 \pm 1.0$	0.8
	Unidentified C <sub>29:1</sub> sterol	488	40.19	1.718	$(60.0\pm4.1)$	14.1

٠ .	
5	
4	
ň	
۵.	
$\overline{\mathbf{P}}$	
Ę,	
Q	
$\odot$	
a	
11	
3	
·2	
t t	
n	
-	
la	
10	
4	
ut	
â	
Ř	
Q.	
0,	
N	
F	
JS	
0	
Ξ	
୍ର	
<u> </u>	
Ч	
5	
Ĕ	
S	
_	
) O	
5	
št	
Ŋ	
at	
, o	
et	
ště	
- e	
Ĕ	
Ĕ	
Ħ	
n	
·=	
Ъ	
n	
ō,	
ΨĨ	
$\mathbf{s}$	
Ö	
et	
ž	
0	
Ξ.	
പ	
Ĭ	
d d	

Carbon Number	Suggested Structure	Molecular Weight <sup>a</sup>	Retention Time (min)	RRT <sup>b</sup>	Average Relative Abundance of Free and Esterified Sterols (%)	Average Relative Abundance of Total Sterols (%)
	4α,23,24-Trimethyl-5α-cholest-22E- en-3β-ol (dinosterol)	500	40.46	1.79	$25.5 \pm 3.3$ (2.9 ± 1.1)	20.2
	$4\alpha$ ,23,24-Trimethyl- $5\alpha$ -cholestan-3- one (dinostanone)	428	41.38	2.032	$(25.3 \pm 6.0)$	5.9
	4α,23,24-Trimethyl-5α-cholestan- 3β-ol (dinostanol)	502	41.52	2.075	$10.0 \pm 0.4$ $(0.9 \pm 0.3)$	7.9
Unclear	Unclear	Unclear	39.08	1.419	$0.9 \pm 0.5$	0.7

**Table 1 Continued** 

<sup>a</sup> Molecular weight as sterol as a TMS derivative. <sup>b</sup> Relative retention time to the TMS derivative of cholesterol.

 $^{\rm c}$  C<sub>24</sub> stereochemistry not determined.  $^{\rm d}$  Values in parentheses represent sterol esters.

**Table 2.** Relative abundance (in % of total fragment height using listed masses) of *Zooxanthella nutricula* CCMP 3427 galactolipids as determined via positive-ion ESI/MS/MS.

Galactolipid	Mass ( <i>m</i> /z) <sup>1</sup>	Average Relative Abundance (%)
18:5/18:5 MGDG	789	$42.0 \pm 1.1$
18:5/18:4 MGDG	791	$24.4 \pm 2.5$
18:5/18:4 DGDG	953	33.5 ± 3.3

<sup>1</sup> Mass rounded down to nearest odd number for the purpose of simplification.

#### Discussion

## Phylogenetic Placement of Z. nutricula Within the Dinophyceae

Dinoflagellates are a phylogenetically diverse group of protists that can be placed in multiple phylogenetic groups based on various characteristics such as the presence of plastids and thecal plates, and the tendency to form symbiotic relationships (Not et al., 2012). Oxyrrhis marina Dujardin is a heterotrophic (proto)dinoflagellate typically placed at the base of the dinoflagellate phylogenetic tree (Medlin & Cembella, 2013; Moestrup & Daugbjerg, 2007). Roughly half of all dinoflagellates are heterotrophic while the other half are autotrophic and contain plastids (Not et al., 2012). Since there are multiple types of dinoflagellate plastids, dinoflagellates can be separated into groups based on the plastid that they contain (Moestrup & Daugbjerg, 2007). The most common type of plastid among dinoflagellates contains the carotenoid pigment peridinin which is found in dinoflagellates of the orders Peridiniales, Gonyaulacales, Gymnodiniales, and Suessiales, among others (Moestrup & Daugbjerg, 2007; Not et al., 2012). The peridinin plastid is considered a secondary plastid because it arose from a red algal plastid through endosymbiosis (Moestrup & Daugbjerg, 2007). While peridinin has not been reported in Z. nutricula, phylogenetic analysis places Z. nutricula within the order Peridiniales which suggests that it does contain peridinin (Probert et al., 2014), and Z. nutricula has the distinctive brownish red coloration of peridinin-containing dinoflagellates (J. Graeff, personal observation).

Other autotrophic dinoflagellates lack the peridinin plastid and instead contain different secondary plastids or plastids that arose from subsequent endosymbiosis events that resulted in tertiary plastids (Dorrell & Howe, 2015). Characteristics of secondary and

tertiary plastids include additional plastid membranes and different types of chlorophyll and pigments than those in the original plastid (Dorrell & Howe, 2015). Fucoxanthin is a pigment in the peridinin-lacking tertiary plastid that originated from haptophyte algae, and this plastid is found in *Karenia* and *Karlodinium* species (Hackett et al., 2004; Tengs et al., 2000; Yoon et al., 2005). Another aberrant plastid is found in *Lepidodinium* species, and it lacks both peridinin and fucoxanthin and is derived from green algae through secondary endosymbiosis (Keeling, 2010; Matsumoto et al., 2011; Watanabe et al., 1991).

The presence of a cellulose thecal plate, and the pattern of the plates can be used as a morphologic trait to reinforce phylogeny (discussed below; Hackett et al., 2004; Medlin & Cembella, 2013). Research about the mechanics of dinoflagellate thecal plates revealed that the plates are important structures since they provide protection from predators and rough waters (Lau, 2007). Dinoflagellates within the orders Peridiniales and Gonyaulacales have thecal plates; however, Gymnodiniales and Suessiales are notable orders that lack thecal plates (Not et al., 2012). *Z. nutricula* contains a series of six thecal plates and has a unique arrangement of a single plate that is uncommon in the Peridiniales but is found in a few heterotrophic peridinioid dinoflagellates (Probert et al., 2014). Overall, the arrangement of the plates around the cell supports the classification of *Z. nutricula* as a discrete peridinioid species (Probert et al., 2014). Based on thecal plate arrangement and rRNA gene analysis, *Z. nutricula* is closely related to *Heterocapsa* spp., *Scrippsiella* spp., *Ensiculifera* spp., *Pentapharsodinium* spp., and *Azadinium* spp.

(Probert et al., 2014). Z. nutricula is a symbiont of the radiolarian order Collodaria, and *Heterocapsa* sp., *Scrippsiella* sp., and *Azadinium* sp. have been observed as symbionts of

the radiolarian order Acantharia (Decelle et al., 2012). As such, *Z. nutricula* is closely related to other peridinioid species that form symbiotic relationships with radiolarians (Probert et al., 2014). However, these dinoflagellates are distantly related to *Symbiodinium* within the order Suessiales (Probert et al., 2014). Therefore, as based on the morphology of thecal plates, *Z. nutricula* is more closely related to species that form symbiotic relationships with radiolarians than species that form symbiotic relationships with chidarians.

Overall, there are major groups of dinoflagellates based on different phylogenetic orders due to phylogenetic characteristics that often provide a basis for grouping. While further research is needed regarding the phylogeny of *Z. nutricula*, it has been determined based on rRNA sequences that the genus *Zooxanthella* is part of the order Peridiniales rather than Suessiales (Gottschling & Mclean, 2013; Probert et al., 2014). For continuity, this paper will discuss the phylogeny of *Z. nutricula* as it relates to the Peridiniales. This strain of *Z. nutricula*, CCMP 3427/RCC 3387, is closely related to the species of *Heterocapsa* and *Ensiculifera* based on small subunit rRNA gene and large subunit rRNA

The genus *Heterocapsa* includes twenty accepted species that collectively possess similar physical traits such as thecal plate arrangement and chloroplast placement, but body scales are important features that have been used to differentiate between species of this genus (Attaran-Fariman & Javid, 2013; Guiry & Guiry, 2020; Iwataki, 2008; Salas et al., 2014). *H. triquetra* which is synonymous with *Kryptoperidinium triquetrum* (Ehrenberg) U.Tillmann, M.Gottschling, M.Elbrächter, W.-H.Kusber & M.Hoppenrath, *H. rotundata* (Lohmann) Gert Hansen, *H. niei* (Loeblich III) L.C.Morrill & Loeblich III, H. pygmaea Loeblich III, R.J.Schmidt & Sherley, H. illdefina (Herman & Sweeney) L.C.Morrill & Loeblich III, and H. circularisquama are prominent species of *Heterocapsa* and have thus been the most phylogenetically researched since a few species are rare or are only found in certain parts of the world (Iwataki, 2008; Orr et al., 2012; Yoshida et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2007). Although phylogenetic analyses have determined the placement of *Heterocapsa* species as they relate to each other, the phylogenetic placement of *Heterocapsa* as related to other genera is unresolved (Tillmann et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2007). The classification of *Heterocapsa* within the Peridiniales is supported; however, more research is needed to determine its relation to other peridinioid species since earlier research classified Heterocapsa as basal to dinoflagellates due to its seemingly early divergence, but more recent research classifies Heterocapsa as a sister group to other peridiniod species (Janouškovec et al., 2016; Orr et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2007). Within the genus Heterocapsa, H. triquetra, H. rotundata, *H. niei*, and *H. pygmaea* are closely related to *Z. nutricula* based on rRNA gene analysis (Probert et al., 2014). While H. circularisquama was not included within the phylogenetical tree of Z. nutricula, it is a notable species due to its production of toxins within HABs that are particularly harmful to bivalves (Iwataki, 2008; Horiguchi, 1995). *H. triquetra* and *H. rotundata* also cause algal blooms that result in fluctuations of dissolved oxygen levels, but these species do not cause harm to other environmental organisms via toxins (Lemley et al., 2018; Tas, 2015).

#### Sterols of Z. nutricula in Relation to Other Dinoflagellates

Previous research about the sterols present in different dinoflagellates provides a basis for dinoflagellates to be grouped according to their sterol composition, thereby allowing for comparisons to be made between phylogenetic groups (Leblond et al., 2010; Withers, 1983). Common dinoflagellate sterols include dinosterol, cholesterol, and 4,24dimethylcholestanol (4,24-dimethyl-5 $\alpha$ -cholestan-3 $\beta$ -ol; Withers, 1983). Dinoflagellates tend to produce 4 $\alpha$ -methyl sterols such as dinosterol more than 4-desmethyl sterols such as cholesterol since 4 $\alpha$ -methyl sterols function as end products in dinoflagellates (Kokke et al., 1980; Loeblich, 1984; Withers, 1983). Dinosterol tends to be the major sterol in many dinoflagellates, and thus is an important marine sediment biomarker (Volkman, 2003; Volkman et al., 1993; Withers, 1983). However, as an example of a group of dinoflagellates that produces signature 4 $\alpha$ -methyl sterols other than dinosterol, *Amphidinium* species lack dinosterol and instead produce amphisterol (4 $\alpha$ -methyl-5 $\alpha$ ergosta-8(14),24(28)-dien-3 $\beta$ -ol) as the major sterol which can also function as a biomarker (Withers, 1983).

Since many dinoflagellates engage in symbiotic relationships with marine organisms, gorgosterol is also common among zooxanthellae dinoflagellates because the production of gorgosterol increases within symbiont-host interactions but can decrease when the symbiont and host are no longer interacting with each other (Giner & Djerassi, 1991; Withers, 1983). Gorgosterol contains a unique side chain which is synthesized from dinosterol (Giner & Djerassi, 1991; Kumar & Chopra, 2005). Gorgosterol has been found in cnidarians, and it is believed that zooxanthellae are responsible for synthesizing gorgosterol from dinosterol and transferring gorgosterol to the host (Steudler et al., 1977;

Withers et al., 1982). Therefore, gorgosterol can serve as a biomarker for zooxanthellae dinoflagellates engaged in symbiosis (Ciereszko, 1989). Although gorgosterol is found in many enidarians and their symbiotic dinoflagellates, the function of gorgosterol is unknown (Rampen et al., 2009). Determining its function could provide insight into symbiotic relationships and could identify what stimulates dinoflagellates to produce gorgosterol while in symbiosis with enidarians (Withers et al., 1982). Gorgosterol was not identified in cultures of *Z. nutricula* grown *ex hospite*; however, future research could determine if gorgosterol is produced when this symbiont is examined *in hospite*. Also, while enidarians and the radiolarian order Acantharia can simultaneously host multiple species of dinoflagellate symbionts, it is unknown if other radiolarian orders simultaneously host multiple symbionts and if co-symbionts of *Z. nutricula* could produce gorgosterol (Carlos et al., 2000; Decelle et al., 2012; Rowan & Knowlton, 1995).

Cholesterol is found in many dinoflagellates and is also common in zooxanthellae, but the abundance of cholesterol can vary between species (Loeblich, 1984; Volkman, 1986). Cnidarians contain a high abundance of cholesterol, and symbiotic dinoflagellates have an important role of providing cholesterol for the cnidarian host (Hambleton et al., 2018; Nelson et al., 2000). However, the role of cholesterol in dinoflagellate-radiolarian symbiosis is unknown, and in *Z. nutricula*, cholesterol was found to be a minor sterol. The major sterol of *Z. nutricula*, 22dehydrocholesterol, is structurally similar to cholesterol and 7-dehydrocholesterol, and some unrelated animals are capable of converting 7-dehydrocholesterol to cholesterol and ergosterol (ergosta-5,7,22-trien-3 $\beta$ -ol) to 22-dehydrocholesterol (Clark & Bloch, 1959; Wilton et al., 1966). However, the ability of cnidarians and radiolarians to perform these
biotransformations is unknown. While dinoflagellate species can produce numerous types of sterols, half of the sterol content of a given species is usually made up of two major sterols that vary by species (Withers, 1983). Minor sterols account for less than 10% of the total sterols and are typically chemical intermediates without a specific function within dinoflagellate cells (Loeblich, 1984). Major sterols typically include dinosterol, cholesterol, and 4,24-dimethylcholestanol (Leblond & Chapman, 2002). Minor sterols encompass a large variety of sterols and depend on the species, but they can include cholestanol (5 $\alpha$ -cholestan-3 $\beta$ -ol), 24-methylcholesterol (24-methylcholest-5-en-3 $\beta$ -ol), 24-methyl-5 $\alpha$ -cholestan-3 $\beta$ -ol, and 4 $\alpha$ ,23,24-trimethyl-5 $\alpha$ -cholest-7-en-3 $\beta$ -ol (Leblond & Chapman, 2002).

This research aimed to identify the sterols of *Z. nutricula* and to use sterols to clarify the relatedness between *Z. nutricula* and other dinoflagellates. *Heterocapsa circularisquama* is a marine dinoflagellate within the order Peridiniales and is phylogenetically related to *Z. nutricula* (Horiguchi, 1995; Probert et al., 2014). The most abundant sterol in *H. circularisquama* was dinosterol which accounted for 39.5% of the total sterol content (Kaku & Hiraga, 2003). While dinosterol was the predominant sterol in *H. circularisquama*, this research shows that dinosterol was the second most predominant sterol in *Z. nutricula*, accounting for 20.2% of the total sterols, as shown in Table 1. Dinostanol was the second most abundant sterol in *H. circularisquama* (13.7%; Kaku & Hiraga, 2003) and was the fourth most abundant sterol in *Z. nutricula* and comprised 7.9% of the total sterols (Table 1). Interestingly, while cholesterol is common among dinoflagellates, both *H. circularisquama* and *Z. nutricula* contained relatively low amounts of cholesterol since it accounted for only 1% of the total sterols in *H.* 

*circularisquama* (Kaku & Hiraga, 2003) and 0.3% of the total sterols in *Z. nutricula*. The major sterol of *Z. nutricula* was 22-dehydrocholesterol which was not present in *H. circularisquama* (Kaku & Hiraga, 2003). However, *H. circularisquama* contained 7-dehydrocholesterol at an abundance of 9.4% (Kaku & Hiraga, 2003). 7-Dehydrocholesterol differs from 22-dehydrocholesterol found in *Z. nutricula* due to the different structural placement of a double bond. The low abundance of cholesterol in *Z. nutricula* could be related to the high abundance of 22-dehydrocholesterol which is structurally the same as cholesterol but with an additional double bond. Ten sterols were identified from *H. circularisquama*, and of these sterols, five were also found in *Z. nutricula*: cholesterol, dinosterol, dinostanol,  $4\alpha$ , 24-dimethyl- $5\alpha$ -cholest-22-en- $3\beta$ -ol, and 4,24-dimethylcholestanol (Kaku & Hiraga, 2003).

The sterol compositions of four other *Heterocapsa* species: *H. niei*, *H. pygmaea* (3 strains), *H. illdefina*, and *H. triquetra* (2 strains) were also determined (Alam et al., 1984). These species contained the identifiable sterols of dinosterol, cholesterol, dinostanol, 24-methylcholesterol, and 4,24-dimethylcholestanol (Alam et al., 1984). All four *Heterocapsa* species contained dinosterol as the most abundant sterol (40.6-61.5%; Alam et al., 1984). Dinosterol was a major sterol in *Z. nutricula* but was not the most abundant sterol. Of the seven strains analyzed, the second most abundant sterol was either 4,24-dimethylcholestanol (19.2-33.5%) or dinostanol (14.6-22.7%; Alam et al., 1984). In *Z. nutricula*, 4,24-dimethylcholestanol was present with an abundance of 0.8%, and dinostanol was present as the fourth most abundant sterol with an abundance of 7.9%. Both sterols had a low abundance compared to *Heterocapsa*. Despite the phylogenetic relatedness between *Heterocapsa* and *Z. nutricula*, the predominant sterol in

*Z. nutricula*, 22-dehydrocholesterol (33.9%; Table 1), was not present in the five *Heterocapsa* species previously analyzed.

The sterol compositions of *Heterocapsa* spp. reported by Kaku and Hiraga (2003) and Alam et al. (1984) did not differentiate between free sterols and sterol esters; however, another study did distinguish between free and esterified sterols of *H. niei* and H. pygmaea (Leblond & Chapman, 2002). Comparisons of free sterols and sterol esters between the dinoflagellate species *H. pygmaea*, *H. niei*, and *Z. nutricula* are shown in Figure 4. For both *H. niei* and *H. pygmaea*, dinosterol (43-47%) was the predominant free sterol and was not present as a sterol ester (Leblond & Chapman, 2002). Similarly, dinosterol was the second major free sterol (25.5%) in Z. nutricula and was found at a low abundance as a sterol ester (2.9%). Also, dinostanol was present as a free sterol in similar abundances in *H. niei* (11%) and *Z. nutricula* (10.1%) and was also present in *H.* pygmaea at a slightly higher abundance (19%; Leblond & Chapman, 2002). In both *Heterocapsa* species, dinostanol was not present as a sterol ester, and was found at a low abundance in Z. nutricula as a sterol ester (0.9%). Again, cholesterol was a minor free and esterified sterol in *H. niei* and *H. pygmaea* (Leblond & Chapman, 2002) and was also a minor free sterol in Z. nutricula while absent as a sterol ester. The major free sterol in H. niei and H. pygmaea was dinosterol, and the major sterol ester for H. niei was  $4\alpha$ ,23,24-trimethyl- $5\alpha$ -cholest-24(28)-en- $3\beta$ -ol while the major sterol ester for H. pygmaea was an unidentified C<sub>31</sub> sterol (Leblond & Chapman, 2002; Figure 4). In contrast, the major free sterol in Z. nutricula was 22-dehydrocholesterol, and the major sterol ester was an unidentified  $C_{29:1}$  sterol (Figure 4). Also, dinostanone was an abundant steroidal ketone in Z. nutricula but was not present in Heterocapsa spp. While the free

32

and esterified sterols of *H. circularisquama*, *H. illdefina*, and *H. triquetra* cannot be compared to Z. nutricula, data for H. niei and H. pygmaea provide insight into how sterols exist as free and esterified among these closely related dinoflagellates. The phylogenetic tree of Z. nutricula identifies the species Ensiculifera aff. loeblichii, E. cf. loeblichii, and E. aff. imariensis as close relatives of Z. nutricula (Probert et al., 2014). The genus *Ensiculifera* was formed following the discovery of *E. mexicana* Balech; however, after inconsistencies with the cal plate arrangement, some *Ensiculifera* species were placed in the genera of *Scrippsiella* or *Pentapharsodinium* (Matsuoka et al., 1990). As a result, *E. loeblichii* E.R.Cox & H.J.Arnott was moved to the genus Pentapharsodinium, but this is now regarded as a misapplied name (D'Onofrio et al., 1999). However, E. loeblichii is accepted as a synonym of Peridinium loeblichii (E.R.Cox & H.J.Arnott) Dale (Cox & Arnott, 1971). Ensiculifera is a genus phylogenetically related to Z. nutricula, but no known research exists for the sterol composition of *Ensiculifera* or species synonymous with those in this genus since cultures are not available. Future research about *Ensiculifera* could help to clarify the phylogenetic relationship between *Ensiculifera* and *Z. nutricula* based on sterol composition.

22-Dehydrocholesterol was not present in *Heterocapsa* spp. although they are closely related to *Z. nutricula*, and its presence is unknown in the also closely related *Ensiculifera* spp.; however, 22-dehydrocholesterol is present in other dinoflagellate species. While the phylogenetic relationship between *Z. nutricula* and the genus *Gonyaulax* has not been studied directly, phylogenetic trees of *Gonyaulax* place *H. triquetra* as an outgroup (Ellegaard et al., 2003; Howard et al., 2009; Rhodes et al.,2006).





**Figure 4.** Comparison of select sterols from the free sterol and sterol ester fractions of *Heterocapsa pygmaea* CCMP 1322 and *Heterocapsa niei* UTEX 1564 (Leblond and Chapman, 2002) and *Zooxanthella nutricula* CCMP 3427.

Therefore, *Z. nutricula* is not closely related to *Gonyaulax* since *Z. nutricula* is closely related to *H. triquetra* (Probert et al., 2014). The total sterol composition of the distantly related *Gonyaulax polygramma* F.Stein contained 8.9% of 22-dehydrocholesterol as a free sterol and 8.7% of 22-dehydrocholesterol as a sterol ester (Volkman et al., 1984). The abundance of 22-dehydrocholesterol in *G. polygramma* remained relatively the same as a free sterol and as a sterol ester. However, in *Z. nutricula*, 22-dehydrocholesterol was the major free sterol (43.4%) but was a minor sterol ester (3.2%; Table 1).

As with *Gonyaulax*, the relation between *Z. nutricula* and the genus *Pyrocystis* has not been directly studied. However, based on phylogenetic trees, *Gonyaulax* is closely related to *Pyrocystis* which is expected due to similar characteristics between the two genera including reproductive bodies, nucleus shape, and bioluminescence (Elbrächter & Drebes, 1978; Zhang et al., 2007). However, *Pyrocystis* is not closely related to *Heterocapsa* as depicted by phylogeny based on rRNA genes (Orr et al., 2012). Therefore, *Pyrocystis* is not closely related to *Z. nutricula* since *Pyrocystis* is closely related to *Gonyaulax* and is not closely related to *Heterocapsa*. *Pyrocystis* lunula (Schütt) Schütt is a luminescent dinoflagellate, and 22-dehydrocholesterol in *P. lunula* accounted for 0.6% of the total sterol composition (Kokke et al., 1982). The abundance of 22-dehydrocholesterol in *P. lunula* and *G. polygramma* was very different than in *Z. nutricula*. While this particular sterol was found at a low abundance in dinoflagellates unrelated to *Z. nutricula*, it was absent from dinoflagellates related to *Z. nutricula*, specifically *Heterocapsa* spp.

Marine diatoms are also phytoplankton and among other differences, instead of having a cell wall composed of cellulose like dinoflagellates, diatoms have a cell wall composed of silica (Seckbach & Kociolek, 2011). Diatoms and dinoflagellates typically differ in terms of sterol content since dinosterol is considered a biomarker for dinoflagellates and occurs in most dinoflagellate species (Withers, 1983). Although rare, dinosterol has also been found in the marine diatom Navicula sp., so some overlap of sterols occurs between diatoms and dinoflagellates (Volkman et al., 1993). 22-Dehydrocholesterol was reported to be found with high abundance in the diatoms Fragilaria pinnata (58.6%), Thalassiothrix heteromorpha (86.6%), and Thalassionema nitzschioides (47.7%; Barrett et al., 1995). 22-Dehydrocholesterol was also reported as the most predominant sterol in the diatom *Biddulphia sinensis* with an abundance of 70.1-81.7% of the total sterol content (Volkman et al., 1980). Despite the high abundance of 22-dehydrocholesterol in *B. sinensis*, which is of the order Biddulphiales, 22dehydrocholesterol is rare in diatoms not within the order Bacillariales (Barrett et al., 1995; Serrazanetti et al., 2006; Volkman et al., 1980). The diatom Cylindrotheca *closterium* is of the order Bacillariales, and 22-dehydrocholesterol accounted for 49.5% of the total sterol content (Serrazanetti et al., 2006). After evaluation of the genus Cylindrotheca, it was concluded that C. closterium is synonymous with the diatom Nitzschia closterium (Reimann et al., 1964; Ryabushko et al., 2019). N. closterium was reportedly found near the central capsule of the radiolarian Collozoum radiosum belonging to the order Collodaria (Ishitani et al., 2012; Swanberg & Anderson, 1985). Collodaria symbionts are known to congregate around the central capsule at night, so it is possible that C. closterium is a symbiont of C. radiosum (Anderson et al., 1983; Suzuki & Not, 2015). However, no further research clarifies whether C. closterium is a radiolarian symbiont. If C. closterium is a symbiont of Collodaria, then 22dehydrocholesterol could be an important sterol for Collodaria since 22dehydrocholesterol was the major sterol for both *C. closterium* and *Z. nutricula*.

22-Dehydrocholesterol is a predominant sterol in certain species of diatoms and accounts for a large percentage of the total sterols. However, 22-dehydrocholesterol does not appear to be a predominant sterol in dinoflagellates, and when it is produced, it accounts for only a small percentage of the total sterols except in the data presented for Z. nutricula. The dominance of 22-dehydrocholesterol in Z. nutricula suggests that Z. nutricula belongs in Cluster 3 of dinoflagellates when grouped based on sterol content (Leblond et al., 2010). Cluster 3 contains dinoflagellates such as *Gymnodinium* spp., Polarella glacialis M.Montresor, G.Procaccini, & D.K.Stoecker, Lingulodinium polyedrum (F.Stein) J.D.Dodge, and Protoceratium reticulatum (Claparède & Lachmann) Bütschli in which the most abundant sterols include cis-22-dehydrocholesterol (cholesta-5,22Z-dien-3β-ol), 24-methylcholesta-5,22E-dien-3β-ol, and 4,24-dimethylcholestanol (Leblond et al., 2010). However, Heterocapsa spp. are grouped within Cluster 6 along with Scrippsiella spp., Pyrocystis spp., and Gymnodinium spp. due to the high abundance of dinosterol and dinostanol (Leblond et al., 2010). The clustering for the genus *Ensiculifera* is unknown since data for the sterols of this species presently do not exist.

It is recognized that zooxanthellae dinoflagellates transfer sterols to cnidarian hosts, and it is believed that sterols are also transferred to radiolarian hosts (Anderson, 2012; Hambleton et al., 2018). The sterol composition of coral has been analyzed which identified cholesterol and 24-methylcholesterol as being major coral sterols (Kanazawa et al., 1976). In addition, non-canonical Niemann-Pick Type C2 (NPC2) proteins were identified in cnidarians and were shown to regulate the transfer of zooxanthellae-derived sterols such as cholesterol to the cnidarian host (Hambleton et al., 2018). Blocking zooxanthellae sterols from transferring to the host threatened the symbiotic relationship which demonstrates the importance of zooxanthellae-derived sterols in cnidarian symbiosis (Hambleton et al., 2018). While extensive knowledge is known about dinoflagellate-cnidarian relationships, little is known about dinoflagellate-radiolarian relationships, especially about the transfer of sterols between organisms. Unlike with cnidarians, there is no known research about radiolarian sterols. Therefore, it is difficult to understand which sterols produced by symbiotic dinoflagellates are used by radiolarians. Z. nutricula has been isolated from the radiolarian Collozoum inerme from the order Collodaria, unidentified radiolarians from the orders Spumellaria and Nassellaria, and the radiolarian *Thalassicolla nucleata* (Liu et al., 2019; Probert et al., 2014; Zettler et al., 1999). The particular dinoflagellate strain used in this research was isolated from a spumellarian (Probert et al., 2014). Future research on the dynamics and exchanges between dinoflagellates and radiolarians, particularly Spumellaria, will provide insight on whether the major sterol of Z. nutricula, 22-dehydrocholesterol, is of importance to radiolarians as well as what sterols are transferred from Z. nutricula to the host, if any. Also, while gorgosterol, a biomarker for symbiotic dinoflagellates that is often transferred to the host, was not found in Z. nutricula when grown ex hospite, future research could determine if gorgosterol is present when this symbiont is examined in hospite. It is evident that dinoflagellates and cnidarians have a strong symbiotic relationship in which the host receives sterols from the symbiont. A similar relationship could exist between radiolarians and dinoflagellates, and research could help clarify the role of dinoflagellates in radiolarian symbioses.

38

Galactolipids of Z. nutricula in Relation to Other Peridinin-Containing Dinoflagellates

Galactolipids are found in photosynthetic membranes where they provide support for photosystems, so they are important lipids for photosynthetic dinoflagellates (Kobayashi, 2016; Kumari et al., 2013). Galactolipid analyses of 35 peridinin-containing dinoflagellates identified two main clusters of dinoflagellates based on the MGDG and DGDG produced by the dinoflagellates (Gray et al., 2009). The first cluster contained dinoflagellates that mainly produced  $C_{18}/C_{18}$  forms of MGDG and DGDG, and 18:5/18:4 DGDG was typically the major form of DGDG (Gray et al., 2009). The second cluster contained dinoflagellates that mainly produced  $C_{20}/C_{18}$  forms of MGDG and DGDG (Gray et al., 2009). Based on the galactolipid content of Z. nutricula, this dinoflagellate belongs in Cluster 1 due to the dominance of  $C_{18}/C_{18}$  forms of both MGDG and DGDG (Table 2). Also, 18:5/18:4 DGDG was the only form of DGDG identified in Z. nutricula, which is consistent with Cluster 1 since this form of DGDG tends to be the major form. The major forms of MGDG in Z. nutricula, 18:5/18:5 and 18:5/18:4, are also characteristic of the major forms of MGDG in Cluster 1 (Gray et al., 2009). However, in both Cluster 1 and 2, the analyzed dinoflagellates tended to contain more DGDG than MGDG, but the opposite was true for Z. nutricula (Gray et al., 2009). Other peridinincontaining dinoflagellates belonging to Cluster 1 include Heterocapsa and Symbiodinium species (Gray et al., 2009). While clusters based on dinoflagellate sterols have a phylogenetic relationship, clusters based on galactolipids do not appear to have a phylogenetic relationship (Leblond et al., 2010; Gray et al., 2009). However, there is a possible relationship between the galactolipids and ecology of dinoflagellates (Gray et al., 2009).

Little research has analyzed the fatty acid content of radiolarians. However, research about dinoflagellates living symbiotically with coral shows that symbiont fatty acids, such as 16:3(n-4, hexadecatrienoic acid), 16:4(n-1, hexadecatetraenoic acid), 18:3(n-6, octadecatrienoic acid), 18:4(n-3), and 22:6(n-3, docosahexaenoic acid), can be transferred to the host coral (Papina et al., 2003). Also, in cnidarian-dinoflagellate symbiotic relationships, it is proposed that cnidarian hosts may be able to transfer fatty acids to the symbiont or alter the synthesis of polyunsaturated fatty acids in the symbiont (Imbs et al., 2014). Further research about radiolarian fatty acids and the capability to synthesize fatty acids could clarify whether the 18:5 and 18:4 fatty acids found in *Z. nutricula* are transferred to the host, if the host is able to transfer fatty lipids to the symbiont, and if the host can change the fatty acids produced by the dinoflagellate while in symbiosis.

## Conclusions

This research provides the first analysis of the sterol and galactolipid content of *Z*. *nutricula* in which the sterol 22-dehydrocholesterol was present at an unusually high abundance for dinoflagellates, and the galactolipids were dominated by  $C_{18}/C_{18}$  forms of MGDG and DGDG. The taxonomy of this species has been in question due to the multiple synonyms given to this dinoflagellate, and the sterol content does not closely resemble that of phylogenetically related species such as *Heterocapsa* spp. Therefore, future research of the sterol content of *Ensiculifera* species, particularly *E. loeblichii* and *E. imariensis*, once cultures are made available, could help clarify taxonomic relations with other dinoflagellates. Since cnidarians and *Symbiodinium* have a dynamic

40

relationship in which *Symbiodinium* produce cholesterol for the host, further research about radiolarian sterols and the diatom *C. closterium* as a radiolarian symbiont could clarify whether 22-dehydrocholesterol is important for radiolarian symbiosis. Also, research that identifies 22-dehydrocholesterol as a major sterol in a dinoflagellate species could provide insight into the taxonomic placement of *Z. nutricula*. While 22dehydrocholesterol is not produced in dinoflagellates closely related to *Z. nutricula*, the fatty acid-containing galactolipids identified in *Z. nutricula* are consistent with those of a group of other peridinin-containing dinoflagellates that mainly produced C<sub>18</sub>/C<sub>18</sub> forms of MGDG and DGDG. Future research about radiolarian sterols and fatty acid-containing lipids should elucidate whether *Z. nutricula* is a sterol and fatty acid provider, how *Z. nutricula* functions with radiolarians, and how sterols and fatty acids produced by *Z. nutricula* are important in radiolarian symbiosis.

## References

- Alam M., Sanduja R., Watson D. A., & Loeblich A. R. III (1984). Sterol distribution in the genus *Heterocapsa* (Pyrrhophyta). *J Phycol*, 20(3), 331-335. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-3646.1984.00331.x
- Anderson O. R. (1976). Ultrastructure of a colonial radiolarian *Collozoum inerme* and a cytochemical determination of the role of its zooxanthellae. *Tissue Cell*, 8(2), 195-208. doi: 10.1016/0040-8166(76)90046-x
- Anderson O. R. (2001). Protozoa, radiolarians. *Enc Ocean Sci*, 4, 2315-2320. doi: 10.1016/B978-012374473-9.00193-4
- Anderson O. R. (2012). Physiology and ecology. *Radiolaria* (173-270). New York: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Anderson O. R., Swanberg N. R., & Bennett P. (1983). Assimilation of symbiont-derived photosynthates in some solitary and colonial radiolaria. *Mar Biol*, 77, 265-269. doi: 10.1007/BF00395815
- Attaran-Fariman G., & Javid P. (2013). The phylogeny of *Heterocapsa* sp.
  (Dinophyceae) isolated from the south coast of Iran during a *Cochlodinium polykrikoides* bloom. *Turk J Bot*, 37, 778-783. doi: 10.3906/bot-1206-40
- Atwood A. R., Volkman J. K., & Sachs J. P. (2014). Characterization of unusual sterols and long chain diols, triols, keto-ols and *n*-alkenols in El Junco Lake, Galápagos. *Org Geochem*, 66, 80-89. doi: 10.1016/j.orggeochem.2013.11.004
- Baird A. H., & Marshall P. A. (2002). Mortality, growth and reproduction in scleractinian corals following bleaching on the Great Barrier Reef. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser*, 237, 133-141. doi: 10.3354/meps237133

- Barrett S. M., Volkman J. K., Dunstan G. A., & LeRoi J.-M. (1995). Sterols of 14 species of marine diatoms (Bacillariophyta). *J Phycol*, 31(3), 360-369. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-3646.1995.00360.x
- Baumgarten S., Simakov O., Esherick L. Y., Liew Y. J., Lehnert E. M., Michell C. T., Li
  Y., Hambleton E. A., Guse A., Oates M. E., Gough J., Weis V. M., Aranda M.,
  Pringle J. R., & Voolstra C. R. (2015). The genome of *Aiptasia*, a sea anemone
  model for coral symbiosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, 112(38), 11893-11898. doi:
  10.1073/pnas.1513318112
- Brandt K. (2016). Ueber das Zusammenleben von Thieren und Algen (T. Krueger, Trans.), *Verh Physiol Ges Berlin*, 22–6. (Original work published 1881).
- Burki F., Kudryavtsev A., Matz M. V., Aglyamova G. V., Bulman S., Fiers M., Keeling
  P. J., & Pawlowski J. (2010). Evolution of Rhizaria: New insights from
  phylogenomic analysis of uncultivated protists. *BMC Evol Biol*, 10, 377. doi:
  10.1186/1471-2148-10-377
- Canfield D. E., Kristensen E., & Thamdrup B. (2005). The silicon cycle. *Aquatic geomicrobiology* (pp. 441-463). San Diego, CA: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Carlos A. A., Baillie B. K., Maruyama T. (2000). Diversity of dinoflagellate symbionts (zooxanthellae) in a host individual. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser*, 195, 93-100. doi: 10.3354/meps195093
- Ciereszko L. S. (1989). Sterol and diterpenoid production by zooxanthellae in coral reefs: A review. *Biological Oceanography*, 6(3-4), 363-374. doi: 10.1080/01965581.1988.10749538

- Clark A. J., Bloch K. (1959). Conversion of ergosterol to 22-dehydrocholesterol in Blattella germanica. J Biol Chem, 234(10), 2589-2594.
- Cox E. R., & Arnott H. J. (1971). The ultrastructure of the theca of the marine dinoflagellate, *Ensiculifera loeblichii* sp. nov. In B. C. Parker & R. M. Jr. Brown (Eds.). *Contributions in phycology* (pp. 121-136). Lawrence, Kansas: Allen Press.
- D'Onofrio F., Marino D., Bianco L., Busico E., & Montresor M. (1999). Toward an assessment on the taxonomy of dinoflagellates that produce calcareous cysts (Calciodinelloideae, Dinophyceae): A morphological and molecular approach. J phycol, 35(5), 1063-1078. doi: 10.1046/j.1529-8817.1999.3551063.x
- Dawaliby R., Trubbia C., Delporte C., Noyon C., Ruysschaert J.-M., Van Antwerpen P.,
  & Govaerts C. (2015). Phophatidylethanolamine is a key regulator of membrane fluidity in eukaryotic cells. *J Biol Chem*, 291(7), 3658-3667. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.706523
- de Oliveira Andrade L. (2016). Understanding the role of cholesterol in cellular
   biomechanics and regulation of vesicular trafficking: The power of imaging.
   *Biomed Spectrosc Imaging*, 5(S1), S101-S117. doi: 10.3233/BSI-160157
- De Wever P., Dumitrica P., Caulet J. P., Nigrini C., & Caridroit M. (2001). *Radiolarians in the sedimentary record*. Amsterdam: Gordon and Breach Science Publishers.
- Decelle J., Siano R., Probert I., Poirier C., & Not F. (2012). Multiple microalgal partners in symbiosis with the acantharian *Acanthochiasma* sp. (Radiolaria). *Symbiosis*, 58, 233-244. doi: 10.1007/s13199-012-0195-x

- Deeds J. R., & Place A. R. (2006). Sterol-specific membrane interactions with the toxins from Karlodinium micrum (Dinophyceae) – a strategy for self-protection?. Afr J Mar Sci, 28(2), 421-425. doi: 10.2989/18142320609504190
- Dodge J. D. (1967). Fine structure of the dinoflagellate *Aureodinium pigmentosum* gen. et sp. nov. *Brit Phycol Bull*, 3(2), 327-336. doi: 10.1080/00071616700650211
- Dodge J. D. (1984). Dinoflagellate taxonomy. In D. L. Spector (Ed.). *Dinoflagellates* (pp. 17-42). Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Dorrell R. G., & Howe C. J. (2015). Integration of plastids with their hosts: Lessons learned from dinoflagellates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, 112(33), 10247-10254. doi: 10.1073/pnas.141380112
- Downs C. A., McDogall K. E., Woodley C. M., Fauth J. E., Richmond R. H., Kushmaro A., Gibb S. W., Loya Y. L., Ostrander G. K., & Kramarsky-Winter E. (2013).
  Heat-stress and light-stress induce different cellular pathologies in the symbiotic dinoflagellate during coral bleaching. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), e77173. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077173
- Elbrächter M., & Drebes G. (1978). Life cycles, phylogeny and taxonomy of Dissodinium and Pyrocystis (Dinophyta). Helgoländer Wiss Meeresunters, 31, 347-366. doi: 10.1007/BF02189487

Ellegaard M., Daugbjerg N., Rochon A., Lewis J., & Harding I. (2003). Morphological and LSU rDNA sequence variation within the *Gonyaulax spinifera-Spiniferites* group (Dinophyceae) and proposal of *G. elongata* comb. nov. and *G. membranacea* comb. nov. *Phycologia*, 42(2), 151-164. doi: 10.2216/i0031-8884-42-2-151.1

- Freeman B. A., Sissentein R., McManus T. T., Woodward J. E., Lee I. M., & Mudd J. B. (1976). Lipid composition and lipid metabolism of *Spiroplasma citri*. *J Bacteriol*, 125(3), 946-954. doi: 10.1128/JB.125.3.946-954.1976
- Gaines G., & Elbrächter M. (1987). Heterotrophic nutrition. In J. R. Taylor (Ed.). *The biology of dinoflagellates* (pp. 224-267). Oxford, UK: Blackwell Scientific.
- Gast R. J., & Caron D. A. (2001). Photosymbiotic associations in planktonic foraminifera and radiolaria. *Hydrobiologia*, 461, 1-7. doi: 10.1023/A:1012710909023
- Giner J.-L., & Djerassi C. (1991). Biosynthetic studies of marine lipids. 33.
  Biosynthesis of dinosterol, peridinosterol and gorgosterol: Unusual patterns of bioalkylation in dinoflagellate sterols. *J Org Chem*, 56(7), 2357-2363. doi: 10.1021/jo00007a021
- Giner J.-L., Faraldos J. A., & Boyer G. L. (2003). Novel sterols of the toxic dinoflagellate *Karenia brevis* (Dinophyceae): A defensive function for unusual marine sterols. J *Phycol*, 39(2), 315-319. doi: 10.1046/j.1529-8817.2003.01254.x
- Goad L. J. (1981). Sterol biosynthesis and metabolism in marine invertebrates. *Pure & Appl Chem*, 53(4), 837-852. doi: 10.1351/pac198153040837
- Gordon B. R., & Leggat W. (2010). *Symbiodinium* invertebrate symbioses and the role of metabolomics. *Mar Drugs*, 8, 2546-2568. doi: 10.3390/md8102546

Gottschling M., & McLean T. I. (2013). New home for tiny symbionts: Dinophytes determined as *Zooxanthella* are Peridiniales and distantly related to *Symbiodinium*. *Mol Phylogenet Evol*, 67(1), 217-222. doi: 10.1016/j.ympev.2013.01.003 Gray C. G., Lasiter A. D., Li C., & Leblond J. D. (2009). Mono- and digalactosyldiacylglycerol composition of dinoflagellates. I. Peridinin-containing taxa. *Eur J Phycol*, 44(2), 191-197. doi: 10.1080/09670260802419481

- Guckert J. B., Antworth C. P., Nichols P. D., & White D. C. (1985). Phospholipid ester-linked fatty acid profiles as reproducible assays for changes in prokaryotic community structure in estuarine sediments. *FEMS Microbial Ecol*, 31(3), 147– 158. doi: 10.1016/0378-1097(85)90016-3
- Guella G., Frassantito R., & Mancini I. (2003). A new solution for an old problem: The regiochemical distribution of the acyl chains in galactolipids can be established by electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *Rapid Comm Mass Spectrom*, 17(17), 1982-1984. doi: 10.1002/rcm.1142
- Guillard R. R. L., & Hargraves P. E. (1993). *Stichochrysis immobilis* is a diatom, not a chrysophyte. *Phycologia*, 32(3), 234-236. doi: 10.2216/i0031-8884-32-3-234.1
- Guiry M. D. & Guiry G. M. (2020). AlgaeBase. World-wide electronic publication, National University of Ireland, Galway. https://www.algaebase.org; searched on 22 July 2020.
- Hackett J. D., Anderson D. M., Erdner D. L., & Bhattacharya D. (2004). Dinoflagellates:
  A remarkable evolutionary experiment. *Am J Bot*, 91(10), 1523-1532. doi: 10.3732/ajb.91.10.1523
- Hallock, P. (2007). Symbiont-bearing foraminifera. In B. K. S. Gupta (Ed.). Modern foraminifera (pp. 123-160). Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer Science & Business Media.

- Hambleton E. A., Jones V. A. S., Maegele I., Kvaskoff D., Sachsenheimer T., & Guse A.
  (2018). Enhanced stability of non-canonical NPC2 in the symbiosome supports
  coral-algal symbiosis. *bioRxiv*. doi: 10.1101/399766
- Hambleton E. A., Jones V., Maegele I., Kvaskoff D., Sachsenheimer T., & Guse A.
  (2019). Sterol transfer by atypical cholesterol-binding NPC2 proteins in coralalgal symbiosis. *eLife*, 8, e43923. doi: 10.7554/eLife.43923
- Haq B. U., & Boersma A. (Eds.). (1998). Introduction to Marine Micropaleontology. Singapore: Elsevier Science PTE Ltd.
- Hölzl G., Witt S., Gaude N., Melzer M., Schöttler M. A., & Dörmann P. (2009). The role of diglycosyl lipids in photosynthesis and membrane lipid homeostasis in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol*, 150(3), 1147-1159. doi: 10.1104/pp.109.139758
- Horiguchi T. (1995). *Heterocapsa circularisquama* sp. nov. (Peridiniales, Dinophyceae):
  A new marine dinoflagellate causing mass mortality of bivalves in Japan. *Phycol Res*, 43(3), 129-136. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1835.1995.tb00016.x
- Howard M. D. A., Smith G. J., & Kudela R. M. (2009). Phylogenetic relationships of yessotoxin-producing dinoflagellates, based on the large subunit and internal transcribed spacer ribosomal DNA domains. *Appl Environ Microb*, 75(1), 54-63. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00818-08

Imbs A. B., Yakovleva I. M., Dautova T. N., Bui L. H., & Jones P. (2014). Diversity of fatty acid composition of symbiotic dinoflagellates in corals: Evidence for the transfer of host PUFAs to the symbionts. *Phytochemistry*, 101, 76-82. doi: 10.1016/j.phytochem.2014.02.012

- Ishitani Y., Ujiié Y., de Vargas C., Not F., & Takahashi K. (2012). Phylogenetic relationships and evolutionary patterns of the order Collodaria (radiolaria). *PLoS ONE*, 7(5), e35775. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035775
- Iwataki M. (2008). Taxonomy and identification of the armored dinoflagellate genus *Heterocapsa* (Peridiniales, Dinophyceae). *Plankton Benthos Res*, 3(3), 135-142. doi: 10.3800/pbr.3.135
- Janouškovec J., Gavelis G. S., Burki F., Dinh D., Bachvaroff T. R., Gornik S. G., Bright K. J., Imanian B., Strom S. L., Delwiche C. F., Waller R. F., Fensome R. A., Leander B. S., Rohwer F. L., & Saldarriaga J. F. (2016). Major transitions in dinoflagellate evolution unveiled by phylotranscriptomics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, 114(2), E171-E180. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1614842114
- Jones G. J., Nichols P. D., & Shaw P. M. (1994). Analysis of microbial sterols and hopanoids. In M. Goodfellow & A. G. O'Donnel (Eds.). *Chemical methods in prokaryotic systematics* (pp. 163-295). New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Kaku K., & Hiraga Y. (2003). Sterol composition of a cultured marine dinoflagellate, *Heterocapsa circularisquama. Nat Prod Res*, 17(4), 263-267. doi: 10.1080/1057563021000060130
- Kanazawa A., Teshima S., Ando T., & Tomita S. (1976). Sterols in coral-reef animals. *Mar Biol*, 34, 53-57. doi: 10.1007/BF00390787
- Keeling P. J. (2010). The symbiotic origin, diversification and fate of plastids. *Phil Trans R Soc B*, 365, 729-748. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2009.0103

- Khadka M., Salem M., & Leblond J. D. (2015). Sterol composition and biosynthetic genes of *Vitrella brassicaformis*, a recently discovered chromerid: Comparison to *Chromera velia* and phylogenetic relationship with apicomplexan parasites. *J Eukaryot Microbiol*, 62(6), 786-798. doi: 10.1111/jeu.12237
- Kita M., Ohishi N., Konishi K., Kondo M., Koyama T., Kitamura M., Yamada K., & Uemura D. (2007). Symbiodinolide, a novel polyol macrolide that activates N-type Ca2+ channel, from the symbiotic marine dinoflagellate *Symbiodinium* sp. *Tetrahedron*, 63(27), 6241-6251. doi: 10.1016/j.tet.2007.02.093s
- Kobayashi K. (2016). Role of membrane glycerolipids in photosynthesis, thylakoid biogenesis and chloroplast development. *J Plant Res*, 129, 565-580. doi: 10.1007/s10265-016-0827y
- Kokke W. C. M. C., Fenical W., & Djerassi C. (1980). Sterols with unusual nuclear unsaturation from three cultured marine dinoflagellates. *Phytochemistry*, 20(1), 127-134. doi: 10.1016/0031-9422(81)85231-4
- Kokke W. C. M. C., Fenical W., & Djerassi C. (1982). Sterols of the cultured dinoflagellate *Pyrocystis lunula*. *Steroids*, 40(3), 307-317. doi: 10.1016/0039-128x(82)90042-3
- Krueger T. (2016). Concerning the cohabitation of animals and algae an English translation of K. Brandt's 1881 presentation "ueber das zusammenleben von thieren and algen." *Symbiosis*, 71(3), 167-174. doi: 10.1007/s13199-016-0439-2
- Kumar B., & Chopra H. K. (2005). Marine natural products. *Biogenesis of natural products* (pp. 246- 285). United Kingdom: Alpha Science International Ltd.

- Kumari P., Kumar M., Reddy C. R. K., & Jha B. (2013). Algal lipids, fatty acids and sterols. In H. Dominguez (Ed.). *Functional ingredients from algae for foods and nutraceuticals* (pp. 87-134). United Kingdom: Elsevier Science.
- Lampitt R. S., Salter I., & Johns D. (2009). Radiolaria: Major exporters of organic carbon to the deep ocean. *Global Biogeochem Cy*, 23(1), GB1010. doi: 10.1029/2008GB003221
- Lau R. K., Kwok A. C. M., Chan W. K. Zhang T. Y., & Wong J. T. Y. (2007). Mechanical characterization of cellulosic thecal plates in dinoflagellates by nanoindentation. *J Nanosci Nanotechnol*, 7(2), 452-457. doi:

10.1166/jnn.2007.18041

- Leblond J. D., & Chapman P. J. (2000). Lipid class distribution of highly unsaturated long chain fatty acids in marine dinoflagellates. *J Phycol*, 36, 1103-1108. doi: 10.1046/j.1529-8817.2000.00018.x
- Leblond J. D., & Chapman P. J. (2002). A survey of the sterol composition of the marine dinoflagellates *Karenia brevis*, *Karenia mikimotoi*, and *Karlodinium micrum*:
  Distribution of sterols within other members of the class Dinophyceae. *J Phycol*, 38(4), 670-682. doi: 10.1046/j.1529-8817.2002.01181.x
- Leblond J. D., & Chapman P. J. (2004). Sterols of the heterotrophic dinoflagellate, *Pfiesteria piscicida* (Dinophyceae): Is there a lipid biomarker? *J Phycol*, 40(1),104-111. doi: 10.1046/j.1529-8817.2004.02166.x
- Leblond J., & Dahmen, J. (2016). Editorial: Recent advances and technologies in algal lipid biology. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, 1444. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2016.01444

- Leblond J. D., Khadka M., Duong L., & Dahmen J. L. (2015). Squishy lipids:
  Temperature effects on the betaine and galactolipid profiles of a C<sub>18</sub>/C<sub>18</sub>
  peridinin-containing dinoflagellate, *Symbiodinium microadriaticum*(Dinophyceae), isolated from the mangrove jellyfish, *Cassiopea xamachana*. *Phycol Res*, 63(3), 219-230. doi: 10.1111/pre.12093
- Leblond J. D., Lasiter A. D., Li C., Logares R., Rengefors K., & Evens T. J. (2010). A data mining approach to dinoflagellate clustering according to sterol composition: Correlations with evolutionary history. *Int J Data Mining and Bioinformatics*, 4(4), 431-451. doi: 10.1504/ijdmb.2010.034198
- Lee J. (1995). Living sands. BioScience, 45(4), 252-261. doi: 10.2307/1312418
- Lemley D. A., Adams J. B., & Rishworth G. M. (2018). Unwinding a tangled web: A fine-scale approach towards understanding the drivers of harmful algal bloom species in a eutrophic South African estuary. *Estuar Coast*, 41, 1356-1369. doi: 10.1007/s12237-018-0380-0
- Liu Z., Mesrop L. Y., Hu S. K., & Caron D. A. (2019). Transcriptome of *Thalassicolla nucleata* holobiont reveals details of a radiolarian symbiotic relationship. *Front Mar Sci*, 6, 284. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2019.00284
- Loeblich A. R., III. (1984). Dinoflagellate physiology and biochemistry. In D. L. Spector (Ed.). *Dinoflagellates* (pp. 299-342). Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Mansour M. P., Volkman J. K., Jackson A. E., & Blackburn S. I. (1999). The fatty acid and sterol composition of five marine dinoflagellates. *J Phycol*, 35(4), 710-720. doi: 10.1046/j.1529-8817.1999.3540710.x

- Matsumoto T., Shinozaki F., Chikuni T., Yabuki A., Takishita K., Kawachi M., Nakayama T., Inouye I., Hashimoto T., & Inagaki Y. (2011). Green-colored plastids in the dinoflagellate genus *Lepidodinium* are of core chlorophyte origin. *Protsist*, 162(2), 268-276. doi: 10.1016/j.protis.2010.07.001
- Matsuoka K., Kobayashi S., & Gains G. (1990). A new species of the genus *Ensiculifera* (Dinophyceae); its cyst and motile forms. *Bulletin of Plankton Society of Japan*, 37(2), 127-143.
- McConnaughey T. A. (2012). Zooxanthellae that open calcium channels: implications for reef corals. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser*, 460, 277-287. doi: 10.3354/meps09776
- McConnaughey T. A., & Whelan J. F. (1997). Calcification generates protons for nutrient and bicarbonate uptake. *Earth Sci Rev*, 42(1-2), 95-117. doi: 10.1016/S0012-8252(96)00036-0
- Medlin L. K., & Cembella A. D. (2013). Biodiversity of harmful marine algae. In S. A.
  Levin (Ed.). *Encyclopedia of biodiversity* (2nd ed., Vol 1, pp. 470-484). Waltham,
  MA: Academic Press.
- Miller J., Muller E., Rogers C., Waara R., Atkinson A., Whelan K. R. T., Patterson M., & Witcher B. (2009). Coral disease following massive bleaching in 2005 causes 60% decline in coral cover on reefs in the US Virgin Islands. *Coral Reefs*, 28, 925-937. doi: 10.1007/s00338-009-0531-7
- Miyazaki Y., Nakashima T., Iwashita T., Fujita T., Yamaguchi K., & Oda T. (2005).
  Purification and characterization of photosensitizing hemolytic toxin from harmful red tide phytoplankton, *Heterocapsa circularisquama*. *Aquat Toxicol*, 73(4), 382-393. doi: 10.1016/j.aquatox.2005.04.005

- Moestrup Ø., & Daugbjerg N. (2007). On dinoflagellate phylogeny and classification. In
  J. Brodie & J. Lewis (Eds.). Unravelling the algae: The past, present, and future of algal systematics (pp. 215-230). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Moreira D., von der Heyden S., Bass D., López-García P., Chao E., & Cavalier-Smith T. (2007). Global eukaryote phylogeny: Combined small- and large-subunit ribosomal DNA trees support monophyly of Rhizaria, Retaria and Excavata. *Mol Phylogenet Evol*, 44(1), 255-266. doi: 10.1016/j.ympev.2006.11.001
- Moriya T., Ishida Y., Nakamura H., Asari T., Murai A., & Ohizumi Y. (1998).
  Vasoconstriction induced by Zooxanthellatoxin-B, a polyoxygenated long-chain product from a marine alga. *Eur J Pharmocol*, 350(1), 59-65. doi: 10.1016/s0014-2999(98)00225-8
- Murakami H., Nobusawa T., Hori K., Shimojima M., & Ohta H. (2018). Betaine lipid is crucial for adapting to low temperature and phosphate deficiency in *Nannochloropsis. Plant Physiol*, 177(1), 181-193. doi: 10.1104/pp.17.01573
- Muscatine L., & Porter J. W. (1977). Reef corals: Mutualistic symbioses adapted to nutrient-poor environments. *BioScience*, 27(7), 454-460. doi: 10.2307/1297526
- Nakamura H., Asari T., Murai A., Kan Y., Kondo T., Yoshida K., & Ohizumi Y. (1995).
  Zooxanthellatoxin-A, a potent vasoconstrictive 62-membered lactone from a symbiotic dinoflagellate. *J Am Chem Soc*, 117(1), 550-551. doi: 10.1021/ja00106a071

- Nakamura H., Asari T., Ohizumi Y., Kobayashi J., Yamasu T., & Murai A. (1993). Isolation of zooxanthellatoxins, novel vasoconstrictive substances from the zooxanthella *Symbiodinium* sp. *Toxicon*, 31(4), 371-376. doi: 10.1016/0041-0101(93)90172-F
- Nelson M. M., Phleger C. F., Mooney B. D., & Nichols P. D. (2000). Lipids of gelatinous Antarctic zooplankton: Cnidaria and Ctenophora. *Lipids*, 35(5), 551-559. doi: 10.1007/s11745-000-555-5
- Not F., Siano R., Kooistra W. H. C. F., Simon N., Vaulot D., & Probert I. (2012).
  Diversity and ecology of eukaryotic marine phytoplankton. In G. Piganeau (Ed.). *Genomic insights into the biology of algae* (pp.1-54). Netherlands: Elsevier
  Science.
- Onodera K.-I., Nakamura H., Oba Y., & Ojika M. (2003). Zooxanthellamide A, a novel large polyhydroxy metabolite from a marine dinoflagellate of *Symbiodinium* sp. *Tetrahedron*, 59(7), 1067-1071. doi: 10.1016/S0040-4020(02)01630-7
- Orr R. J. S., Murray S. A., Stüken A., Rhodes L., & Jakobsen K. S. (2012). When naked became armored: An eight-gene phylogeny reveals monophyletic origin of theca in dinoflagellates. *PLoS ONE*, 7(11), e50004. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050004
- Papina M., Meziane T., & van Woesik R. (2003). Symbiotic zooxanthellae provide the host-coral *Montipora digitata* with polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Comp Biochem Phys B*, 135(3), 533-537. doi: 10.1016/S1096-4959(03)00118-0
- Piretti M. V., Pagliuca G., Boni L., Pistocchi R., Diamante M., & Gazzotti T. (1997).
  Investigation of 4-methyl sterols from cultured dinoflagellate algal strains. J
  Phycol, 33(1), 61-67. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-3646.1997.00061.x

- Probert I., Siano R., Poirier C., Decelle J., Biard T., Tuji A., Suzuki N., & Not F. (2014). *Brandtodinium* gen. nov. and *B. nutricula* comb. Nov. (Dinophyceae), a
  dinoflagellate commonly found in symbiosis with polycstine radiolarians, *J Phycol*, 50, 388-399. doi: 10.1111/jpy.12174
- Rampen S. W., Volkman J. K., Hur S. B., Abbas B. A., Schouten S., Jameson I. D., Holdsworth D. G., Bae J. H., & Damsté J. S. S. (2009). Occurrence of gorgosterol in diatoms of the genus *Delphineis*. *Org Geochem*, 40, 144-147. doi: 10.1016/j.orggeochem.2008.09.002
- Rands M. L., Loughman B. C., & Douglas A. E. (1993). The symbiotic interface in an alga-invertebrate symbiosis. *P Roy Soc Biol Sci*, 253(1337), 161-165. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1993.0097
- Reimann B. E. F., & Lewin J. C. (1964). The diatom genus *Cylindrotheca* Rabenhorst (with a reconsideration of *Nitzschia closterium*). *Journal of the Royal Microscopical Society*, 83(3), 283-296. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2818.1964.tb00542.x
- Rhodes L., McNabb P., de Salas M., Briggs L., Beuzenberg V., & Gladstone M. (2006).
  Yessotoxin production by *Gonyaulax spinifera*. *Harmful Algae*, 5, 148-155. doi: 10.1016/j.hal.2005.06.008
- Rowan R., & Knowlton N. (1995). Intraspecific diversity and ecological zonation in coral-algal symbiosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 92(7), 2850-2853. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.7.2850

- Ryabushko L. I., Balycheva D. S., Bondarenko A. V., Zheleznova S. N., Begun A. A., & Stonik I. V. (2019). Different aspects of studying a diatom *Cylindrotheca closterium* (Ehrenberg) Reimann et Lewin 1964 in natural and laboratory conditions. *Mar Biol J*, 4(2), 52-62. doi: 10.21072/mbj.2019.04.2.06
- Salas R., Tillmann U., & Kavanagh S. (2014). Morphological and molecular characterization of the small armoured dinoflagellate *Heterocapsa minima* (Peridiniales, Dinophyceae). *Eur J Phycol*, 49(4), 413-428. doi: 10.1080/09670262.2014.956800
- Sato Y., Oda T., Muramatsu T., Matsuyama Y., & Honjo T. (2002). Photosensitizing hemolytic toxin in *Heterocapsa circularisquama*, a newly indentified harmful red tide dinoflagellate. *Aquat Toxicol*, 56(3), 191-196. doi: 10.1016/S0166-445X(01)00191-6
- Seckbach J., & Kociolek J. P. (2011). Diatoms: General introduction. In J. Seckbach, J.P. Kociolek (Eds.). *The diatom world* (pp. xi-xii). New York: Springer.

Serrazanetti G. P., Folicaldi A., Guerrini F., Monti G., Pistocchi R., & Boni L. (2006). Microalgal lipid markers for paleoclimatic research. *Clim Res*, 31, 145-150. doi: 10.3354/cr031145

Sierra R., Matz M. V., Aglyamova G., Pillet L., Decelle J., Not F., de Vargas C., &
Pawlowski J. (2013). Deep relationships of Rhizaria revealed by phylogenomics:
A farewell to Haeckel's Radiolaria. *Mol Phylogenet Evol*, 67(1), 53-59. doi:
10.1016/j.ympev.2012.12.011

- Sleigh M. A. (2000). Trophic strategies. In B. S. C. Leadbeater & J. C. Green (Eds.). The flagellates: Unity, diversity and evolution (pp. 147-165). New York, NY: Taylor & Francis Limited.
- Spector D. L. (1984). Dinoflagellates: An introduction. In D. L. Spector (Ed.). Dinoflagellates (pp. 1-15). Orlando, FL: Academic Press.

Steudler P. A., Schmitz F. J., & Ciereszko L. S. (1977). Chemistry of coelenterates.
Sterol composition of some predator-prey pairs on coral reefs. *Comp Biochem Phys B*, 56(4), 385-392. doi: 10.1016/0305-0491(77)90236-X

- Suzuki N., & Not F. (2015). Biology and ecology of radiolaria. In S. Ohtsuka, T. Suzaki, T. Horiguchi, N. Suzuki, F. Not (Eds.). *Marine protists: Diversity and dynamics* (pp. 179-222). Japan: Springer.
- Swanberg N. R., & Anderson O. R. (1985). The nutrition of radiolarians: Trophic activity of some solitary Spumellaria. *Limnol Oceanogr*, 30(3), 646-652. doi: 10.4319/lo.1985.30.3.0646
- Tanaka Y., Miyajima T., & Koike I. (2007). Imbalanced coral growth between organic tissue and carbonate skeleton caused by nutrient enrichment. *Limnol Oceanogr*, 52(3), 1139-1146. doi: 10.4319/lo.2007.52.3.1139
- Tas S. (2015). A prolonged red tide of *Heterocapsa triquetra* (Ehrenberg) F. Stein
   (Dinophyceae) and phytoplankton succession in a eutrophic estuary (Turkey).
   *Mediterr Mar Sci*, 16(3), 621-627. doi: 10.12681/mms.1049
- Taylor D. L. (1974). Symbiotic marine algae: Taxonomy and biological fitness. In W. B. Vernberg (Ed.). Symbiosis in the sea (pp. 245-262). Columbia, SC: University of South Carolina Press.

- Tengs T., Dahlberg O. J., Shalchian-Tabrizi K., Klaveness D., Rudi K., Delwiche C. F.,
  & Jakobsen K. S. (2000). Phylogenetic analyses indicate that the
  19'Hexanoyloxy-fucoxanthin-containing dinoflagellates have tertiary plastids of
  haptophyte origin. *Mol Biol Evol*, 17(5), 718–729. doi:
  10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a026350
- Thomson P. G., Wright S. W., Bolch C. J. S., Nichols P. D., Skerratt J. H., & McMinn A. (2004). Antarctic distribution, pigment and lipid composition, and molecular identification of the brine dinoflagellate *Polarella glacialis* (Dinophyceae). J *Phycol* 40(5), 867-873. doi: 10.1111/j.1529-8817.2004.03169.x
- Tillmann U., Hoppenrath M., Gottschling M., Kusber W.-H., & Elbrächter M. (2017).
  Plate pattern clarification of the marine dinophyte *Heterocapsa triquetra* sensu stein (Dinophyceae) collected at the Kiel Fjord (Germany). *J Phycol*, 53(6), 1305-1324. doi: 10.1111/jpy.12584
- Toyofuku T., Matsuo M. Y., de Nooijer L. J., Nagai Y., Kawada S., Fujita K., Reichart G.-J., Nomaki H., Tsuchiya M., Sakaguchi H., & Kitazato H. (2017). Proton pumping accompanies calcification in foraminifera. *Nat Commun* 8, 14145. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14145
- Trench R. K. (1971). The physiology and biochemistry of zooxanthellae symbiotic with marine coelenterates. I. The assimilation of photosynthetic products of zooxanthellae by two marine coelenterates. *Proc Roy Soc Lond B*, 177(1047), 225-235. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1971.0024
- Trench R. K. (1987). Dinoflagellates in non-parasitic symbioses. In F. J. R. Taylor (Ed.). The biology of dinoflagellates (pp. 530-570). Oxford: Blackwell.

Van Mooy B. A. S., Fredricks H. F., Pedler B. E., Dyhrman S. T., Karl D. M., Koblizek M., Lomas M. W., Mincer T. J., Moore L. R., Moutin T., Rappe M. S., & Webb E. A. (2009). Phytoplankton in the ocean use non-phosphorus lipids in response to phosphorus scarcity. *Nature*, 458(7234), 69-72. doi: 1038/nature07659

Villar E., Dani V., Bigeard E., Linhart T., Mendez S., Bachy C., Six C., Lombard F., Sabourault C., & Not F. (2018). Symbiont chloroplasts remain active during bleaching-like response induced by thermal stress in *Collozoum pelagicum* (Collodaria. Retaria). *Front Mar Sci*, 5(387), 1-11. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00387

- Volkman J. K. (1986). A review of sterol markers for marine and terrigenous organic matter. *Org Geochem*, 9(2), 83-99. doi: 10.1016/0146-6380(86)90089-6
- Volkman J. K. (2003). Sterols in microorganisms. *Appl Microbiol Biot*, 60, 495-506. doi: 10.1007/s00253-002-1172-8
- Volkman J. K., Barrett S. M., Dunstan G. A., & Jeffrey S. W. (1993). Geochemical significance of the occurrence of dinosterol and other 4-methyl sterols in a marine diatom. *Org Geochem*, 20(1), 7-15. doi: 10.1016/0146-6380(93)90076-N
- Volkman J. K., Eglinton G., & Corner E. D. S. (1980). Sterols and fatty acids of the marine diatom *Biddulphia sinensis*. *Phytochemistry*, 19(8), 1809-1813. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9422(00)83818-2
- Volkman J. K., Gagosian R. B., & Wakeham S. G. (1984). Free and esterified sterols of the marine dinoflagellate *Gonyaulax polygramma*. *Lipids*, 19(6), 457-465. doi: 10.1007/BF02537408

- Watanabe M. M., Sasa T., Suda S., Inouye I., & Takichi S. (1991). Major carotenoid composition of an endosymbiont is a green dinoflagellate, *Lepidodinium viride*. J *Phycol*, 27 (Suppl.), 75
- Welti R., Li W., Li M., Sang Y., Biesiada H., Zhou H., Rajashekar C., Williams T.,
  & Wang X. (2002). Profiling membrane lipids in plant stress responses: Role of phospholipase Dα in freezing-induced lipid changes in *Arabidopsis*. *J Biol Chem*, 277(35), 31994–32002. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M205375200
- Wilton D. C., Akhtar M., & Munday K. A. (1966). The conversion of 7dehydrocholesterol into cholesterol. *Biochem J* 98(3), 29C-31C. doi: 10.1042/bj0980029c
- Withers N. (1983). Dinoflagellate sterols. In P. J. Scheuer (Ed.). Marine natural products: Chemical and biological perspectives volume V (pp. 87-131). New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Withers N. W., Kokke W. C. M. C., Fenical W., & Djerassi C. (1982). Sterol patterns of cultured zooxanthellae isolated from marine invertebrates: Synthesis of gorgosterol and 23-desmethylgorgosterol by aposymbiotic algae. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, 79(12), 3764-3768. doi: 10.1073/pnas.79.12.3764
- Yellowlees D., Rees T. A. V., & Leggat W. (2008). Metabolic interactions between algal symbionts and invertebrate hosts. *Plant Cell Environ*, 31, 679-694. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2008.01802.x
- Yoon H. S., Hackett J. D., Van Dolah F. M., Nosenko T., Lidie K. L., & Bhattacharya D. (2005). Tertiary endosymbiosis driven genome evolution in dinoflagellate algae. *Mol Biol Evol*, 22(5), 1299-1308. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msi118

- Yoshida T., Nakai R., Seto H., Wang M.-K., Iwataki M., & Hiroishi S. (2003). Sequence analysis of 5.8S rDNA and the internal transcribed spacer region in dinoflagellate *Heterocapsa* species (Dinophyceae) and development of selective PCR primers for the bivalve killer *Heterocapsa circularisquama*. *Microbes Environ*, 18(4), 216-222. doi: 10.1264/jsme2.18.216
- Yuasa T., Horiguchi T., Mayama S., & Takahashi O. (2016). *Gymnoxanthella radiolariae* gen. et sp. nov. (Dinophyceae), a dinoflagellate symbiont from solitary polycystine radiolarians. *J Phycol*, 52(1), 89-104. doi: 10.1111/jpy.12371
- Zettler L. A. A., Anderson O. R., & Caron D. A. (1999). Towards a molecular phylogeny of colonial spumellarian radiolaria. *Mar Micropalentol*, 36, 67-79. doi: 10.1016/S0377-8398(98)00028-0
- Zhang H., Bhattacharya D., & Lin S. (2007). A three-gene dinoflagellate phylogeny suggests monophyly of Prorocentrales and a basal position for *Amphidinium* and *Heterocapsa*. J Mol Evol, 65, 463-474. doi: 10.1007/s00239-007-9038-4
- Zhang Y., Feng T., Qu J., Sun N., & Liu Lifen. (2019). Toxicity and haemolytic activity of a newly described dinoflagellate, *Heterocapsa bohainensis* to the rotifer *Brachionus plicatilis*. *Harmful Algae*, 84, 112-118. doi: 10.1016/j.hal.2019.03.007













65

sterol fraction of Z. nutricula alongside the corresponding structure.




Figure 2. The major sterol and steroidal ketone found in the sterol ester fraction of Zooxanthella nutricula CCMP 3427. (A) GC/MS spectrum of the steroidal ketone  $4\alpha$ , 23, 24-trimethyl-5a-cholestan-3-one (dinostanone, m/z 428) from the sterol ester fraction of Z. spectrum of unidentified  $C_{29:1}$  sterol as its TMS derivative (m/z 488) from the sterol ester fraction of Z. nutricula. (B) GC/MS nutricula alongside the corresponding chemical structure.













z/m





Figure 3. The galactolipids found in Zooxanthella nutricula CCMP 3427. (A) Fullscan ESI/MS spectrum of galactolipids from Z. nutricula. Galactolipids as Na<sup>+</sup> adducts are 18:5/18:5 MGDG (m/z 789), 18:5/18:4 MGDG (m/z 791), and 18:5/18:4 DGDG (m/z 953). (B) ESI/MS/MS spectrum of 18:5/18:5 MGDG (as its Na<sup>+</sup> adduct) from Z. *nutricula*. The ion at m/z 789 represents the mass of the intact galactolipid. The ion at m/z 515 represents the mass of the galactolipid after cleavage of the 18:5 fatty acid from either the sn-1 or the sn-2 position as depicted in the corresponding chemical structure. (C) ESI/MS/MS spectrum of 18:5/18:4 MGDG (as its Na<sup>+</sup> adduct) from Z. *nutricula*. The ion at m/z 791 represents the mass of the intact galactolipid. The ion at m/z 517 represents the mass of the galactolipid after preferential cleavage of the 18:5 fatty acid from the sn-1 position. The ion at m/z 515 represents the mass of the galactolipid after less preferential cleavage of the 18:4 fatty acid from the sn-2 position as depicted in the corresponding chemical structure. (D) ESI/MS/MS spectrum of 18:5/18:4 DGDG (as its Na<sup>+</sup> adduct) from Z. nutricula. The ion at m/z 953 represents the mass of the intact galactolipid. The ion at m/z 791 represents the mass of the galactolipid after cleavage of one galactose. The ion at m/z 679 represents the mass of the galactolipid after preferential cleavage of the 18:5 fatty acid from the sn-1 position. The ion at m/z 677 represents the mass of the galactolipid after less preferential cleavage of the 18:4 fatty acid from the *sn*-2 position as depicted in the corresponding chemical structure.